Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: January 29, 2013 ACCEPTED: March 1, 2013 PUBLISHED: March 21, 2013

Holography and hydrodynamics for EMD theory with two Maxwell fields

Milena Smolic

Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of Amsterdam, Science Park 904, Postbus 94485, 1090 GL Amsterdam, The Netherlands

E-mail: M.Smolic@uva.nl

ABSTRACT: We use 'generalized dimensional reduction' to relate a specific Einstein-Maxwell-Dilaton (EMD) theory, including two gauge fields, three neutral scalars and an axion, to higher-dimensional AdS gravity (with no higher-dimensional Maxwell field). In general, this is a dimensional reduction over compact Einstein spaces in which the dimension of the compact space is continued to non-integral values. Specifically, we perform a non-diagonal Kaluza-Klein (KK) reduction over a torus, involving two KK gauge fields. Our aim is to determine the holographic dictionary and hydrodynamic behaviour of the lower-dimensional theory by performing the generalized dimensional reduction on AdS. We study a specific example of a black brane carrying a wave, whose universal sector is described by gravity coupled to two Maxwell fields, three neutral scalars and an axion, and compute the first order transport coefficients of the dual theory. In these theories $\hat{\zeta}_s/\hat{\eta} < 2 \left(1/(d-1) - \hat{c}_s^2\right)$, where \hat{c}_s is the speed of sound, violating a conjectured bound, but an alternative bound is satisfied.

KEYWORDS: Gauge-gravity correspondence, Black Holes in String Theory, D-branes, AdS-CFT Correspondence

ARXIV EPRINT: 1301.6020



Contents

1	Introduction			2
2	Holography for EMD theory with two Maxwell fields			3
	2.1 Generalized dimensional reduction			4
	2.2	Holographic dictionary		
		2.2.1	Asymptotic expansion	6
		2.2.2	Counterterms and holographic one-point functions	7
		2.2.3	Stress-energy tensor, currents and scalar operators	9
		2.2.4	Reduced Ward identities	11
3	Black brane universal sector with two Maxwell fields			12
	3.1	Black branes		12
		3.1.1	Conformal black brane with wave	13
		3.1.2	Dimensional reduction	14
		3.1.3	Expansion in Fefferman-Graham coordinates	16
		3.1.4	Thermodynamic quantities	17
	3.2	Universal hydrodynamics		18
		3.2.1	Conformal fluid in higher dimension	19
		3.2.2	Reduced fluid velocity	19
		3.2.3	Equilibrium quantities	20
		3.2.4	Dissipative extension and transport coefficient formulae	21
		3.2.5	Discussion of various bounds	26
4	Discussion and conclusions			27
\mathbf{A}	Equ	ations	of motion of reduced theory with two Maxwell fields	28
в	Check of quantities sourced by non-normalizable modes of fields			30
\mathbf{C}	Tra	nsport	coefficient relations in two charge hydrodynamic system	32
D	O Computing transport coefficients			35
\mathbf{E}	E Derivation of formula for bulk to shear viscosity ratio			38
F	Checking bulk to shear viscosity ratio			39

1 Introduction

Einstein-Maxwell-Dilaton (EMD) theories have a wide appeal because their field content is suitable for describing finite charge density systems, possibly exhibiting condensates via holography [1–16], which has obvious uses within condensed matter theory (CMT) in particular.

We aim in this paper to provide a holographic dictionary for a class of EMD theories, specifically containing two Maxwell fields, three neutral scalars and an axion. A similar analysis was already done in [17], in which we listed and discussed the cases where the EMD theory can be oxidized to a higher-dimensional AdS-Maxwell theory, and then specialized to the EMD case involving one Maxwell field and two neutral scalars. The motivations to study an EMD theory with two Maxwell fields and an axion are numerous. Firstly, a family of theories that could be obtained from AdS was discussed in [17], and it would be interesting to understand whether the generalization to many gauge fields is trivial or if new issues arise. Studying the case of two gauge fields is a first step in this direction. The case of many gauge fields may have applications in future, among them the possible holographic description of imbalanced superconductors. In [17] it was also noted that the bound suggested in [71] for the bulk to shear viscosity ratio is violated, and a new modified bound was introduced, which was indeed satisfied by the system at hand. We also use our transport coefficient results in this paper to verify this new modified bound. Furthermore, in the context of AdS/CMT, it may also be possible to make a link to the systems studied in [18], since they have a similar structure to the system dealt with here. Finally, due to the presence of the axion in our theory, our analysis may allow for the holographic modelling of axion physics. This has many applications, among them in cosmology, where axions are considered a possible dark matter candidate.

Setting up holography for such EMD systems is nontrivial in general since a large proportion of solutions are not asymptotically AdS. We bypass the difficulties associated with the standard method for deriving the holographic dictionary (see [19, 20] for reviews) by turning to a rather neat 'trick', namely 'generalized dimensional reduction'. This method allows us to start from a theory whose holographic dictionary is known, and infer the holographic dictionary of the theory related to it *via* such a reduction.

This generalized dimensional reduction needs to be consistent, which means that all lower-dimensional theory solutions must also be solutions of the higher dimensional theory. This allows us to infer, among other things, the structure of the lower-dimensional field equations from the higher-dimensional counterpart. This is particularly important since one of the main ingredients in setting up holography is understanding the asymptotic structure of the field equations. The term 'generalized' refers to the additional requirement that the reduced theory depends smoothly on the dimension of the compactification manifold, allowing one to continue this parameter to be any real number. In particular, this generalized reduction method was successfully applied to higher-dimensional AdS gravity coupled to matter fields in [28], to obtain the holographic setup for lower-dimensional gravity coupled to a scalar field with exponential potential, which itself is associated with the near-horizon limit of non-conformal branes [26, 27]. A diagonal reduction over a $\mathbf{T}^{2\sigma-d}$ torus was used. In this paper we want to set up holography for a lower-dimensional theory with two Maxwell fields. We do so by replacing the diagonal torus reduction by a general non-diagonal reduction. In [17] this was done to yield one Maxwell field in the lower-dimensional theory, and we simply extend this by a further reduction to obtain the additional Maxwell field. An intermediate step in the process will give rise to the axion: the Maxwell field introduced by the first reduction is itself reduced to ultimately yield the axion.

A particularly pleasing property of generalized dimensional reduction is that it yields theories, from higher-dimensional AdS gravity (possibly coupled to a Maxwell field), which have known non-extremal black hole solutions (with nontrivial scalar and Maxwell fields). These solutions are not only complicated in structure, but also often have atypical asymptotic behaviour, so studying their holographic setup from scratch is quite an intricate affair. However, we may deduce much about these solutions due to their simple higher-dimensional origins. Among other things, they satisfy all expected thermodynamic identities as does their AdS analogue [31], it becomes relatively straightforward to compute conserved charges via the holographic stress tensor and holographic conserved current, and we may also gain an insight into the lower-dimensional hydrodynamic regime. We explicitly use the generalized dimensional reduction to derive the relevant transport coefficients for our lowerdimensional theory.

This paper is organised as follows. In section 2 we perform a generalized dimensional reduction on AdS gravity to obtain the desired lower-dimensional theory containing three neutral scalars, an axion and two Maxwell fields, and its corresponding holographic dictionary. In section 3, we study a specific example of a black brane carrying a wave (whose universal sector contains precisely the fields mentioned above), and use the dimensional reduction to obtain a description of its hydrodynamic regime by calculating the relevant transport coefficients. In the appendices we write down the equations of motion of the reduced theory with two gauge fields, give an explicit check of the quantities sourced by the non-normalizable modes of fields within the theory, derive the transport coefficient relations in a two charge hydrodynamic system, provide details regarding the computation of transport coefficients, give a derivation for the relation used as an independent check of our result for the bulk to shear viscosity ratio, and finally provide the explicit calculation of this check.

2 Holography for EMD theory with two Maxwell fields

In [17] we started from the higher-dimensional AdS-Maxwell action and wrote down the (d+1)-dimensional action obtained *via* a general non-diagonal torus reduction over $\mathbf{T}^{(2\sigma-d)}$ involving \mathcal{M} Kaluza-Klein gauge fields. We also worked out explicitly the case corresponding to a lower-dimensional theory with one Maxwell field, starting from higher-dimensional AdS gravity. In this section we will restrict ourselves to an analysis involving another particular example of this general case, where upon reduction of higher-dimensional AdS gravity (with cosmological constant but no higher-dimensional Maxwell field), we obtain lower-dimensional EMD theory with two Maxwell fields, three Kaluza-Klein scalars and an axion. We may perform this reduction in two steps. The first involves a torus reduction of (2.1) involving one Kaluza-Klein gauge field, as done explicitly in [17]. We then reduce the resulting

intermediate action, including a second Kaluza-Klein gauge field. The axion comes from the reduction of the Maxwell field present in the intermediate action due to the first reduction.

Here, we will provide the generalized Kaluza-Klein reduction map, write down the resulting lower-dimensional action, and then move on to deriving the holographic dictionary for the reduced theory. Note that by setting one of the scalar fields ξ , the gauge field $A_M^{(1)}$ as well as the axion $A^{(0)}$ to zero in this section, we recover the results of [17].

2.1 Generalized dimensional reduction

We begin with a higher-dimensional action without any Maxwell fields, namely Einstein gravity with negative cosmological constant in $(2\sigma + 1)$ -dimensions

$$S_{(2\sigma+1)} = L_{\text{AdS}} \int d^{2\sigma+1} x \sqrt{-g_{(2\sigma+1)}} \left[R + 2\sigma(2\sigma - 1) \right] , \qquad (2.1)$$

where $L_{\text{AdS}} = \ell_{(2\sigma+1)}^{2\sigma-1}/(16\pi G_{2\sigma+1})$, $\ell_{(2\sigma+1)}$ is the AdS radius and we used an appropriate Weyl rescaling to move $\ell_{(2\sigma+1)}$ as an overall constant in the action. We perform the reduction of such an action, ultimately ending up with a lower-dimensional theory with two Maxwell fields, an axion and three scalars.

The full reduction ansatz for the theory on the torus $\mathbf{T}^{(2\sigma-d)}$ is given by

$$ds_{(2\sigma+1)}^{2} = ds_{(d+1)}^{2}(\rho, z) + e^{2\phi_{3}(\rho, z)} \left(dy_{2} - A_{N}^{(2)}dx^{N}\right)^{2} + e^{2\phi_{1}(\rho, z)} \left(dy_{1} - A_{M'}^{(1)}dx^{M'}\right)^{2} + e^{\frac{2\phi_{2}(\rho, z)}{(2\sigma - d - 2)}} dy^{a}dy^{a}, \qquad (2.2)$$

where $a = 1, \ldots, (2\sigma - d - 2)$. The coordinates (y_1, y_2, y^a) are periodically identified with period $2\pi R$, $x^M = (\rho, z^i)$ with $M = 0, \ldots, d$, and $x^{M'} = (x^M, y_2)$. Furthermore, we include the axion $A^{(0)}$ in the reduction of $A^{(1)}_{M'}$:

$$A_{M'}^{(1)} = \left(A_M^{(1)}, A^{(0)}\right) \,. \tag{2.3}$$

Using a more natural combination of the scalars, namely

$$\varphi = \phi_1 + \phi_2, \qquad \xi = (2\sigma - d - 2)\phi_1 - \phi_2, \qquad \psi = \varphi + \phi_3,$$

 $\zeta = (2\sigma - d - 1)\phi_3 - \varphi, \qquad (2.4)$

the reduced action is calculated to be

$$S_{(d+1)} = L \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{-g_{(d+1)}} e^{\psi} \left[R_{(d+1)} + \frac{2\sigma - d - 1}{(2\sigma - d)} (\partial \psi)^2 - \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)} (\partial \zeta)^2 - \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d - 1)(2\sigma - d - 2)} (\partial \xi)^2 - \frac{1}{4} e^{\frac{2(\psi + \zeta)}{(2\sigma - d)}} F_{MN}^{(2)} F^{(2)MN} - \frac{1}{4} e^{\frac{2(\xi(2\sigma - d) + (2\sigma - d - 1)\psi - \zeta)}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \times \left(F_{MN}^{(1)} F^{(1)MN} + 4 \partial^M A^{(0)} A^{(2)N} F_{MN}^{(1)} - 2 \left(A^{(2)M} \partial_M A^{(0)} \right)^2 \right)$$

$$+2\left(e^{\frac{-2(\psi+\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)}} + A_M^{(2)}A^{(2)M}\right)\left(\partial A^{(0)}\right)^2\right) + 2\sigma(2\sigma-1)\right], \quad (2.5)$$

where $L = L_{AdS} (2\pi R)^{2\sigma - d}$, while the reduction ansatz becomes

$$ds_{(2\sigma+1)}^{2} = ds_{(d+1)}^{2}(\rho, z) + e^{\frac{2(\psi+\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)}} \left(dy_{2} - A_{N}^{(2)} dx^{N} \right)^{2} + e^{\frac{2(\xi(2\sigma-d)+(2\sigma-d-1)\psi-\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1)}} \left(dy_{1} - A_{M}^{(1)} dx^{M} - A^{(0)} dy^{(2)} \right)^{2} + e^{\frac{2\psi}{2\sigma-d} - \frac{2\zeta}{(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1)} - \frac{2\xi}{(2\sigma-d-1)(2\sigma-d-2)}} dy^{a} dy^{a} .$$
(2.6)

We include the equations of motion corresponding to the fields present in (2.5), in appendix A.

We bring the reduced action into Einstein frame by conformally rescaling it using the metric rescaling

$$g_{MN} = e^{-2\psi/(d-1)}\bar{g}_{MN} \,, \tag{2.7}$$

and further rescale the scalars as

$$\psi = \sqrt{\frac{(2\sigma - d)(d - 1)}{2(2\sigma - 1)}}\bar{\psi}, \qquad \zeta = \sqrt{\frac{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}{2}}\bar{\zeta},$$

and $\xi = \sqrt{\frac{(2\sigma - d - 1)(2\sigma - d - 2)}{2}}\bar{\xi},$ (2.8)

to yield the action in the Einstein frame with canonically normalized scalar kinetic terms,

$$S_{(d+1)} = L \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{-\bar{g}_{(d+1)}} \left[\bar{R} - \frac{1}{2} (\partial \bar{\psi})^2 - \frac{1}{2} (\partial \bar{\zeta})^2 - \frac{1}{2} (\partial \bar{\xi})^2 - \frac{1}{2} (\partial \bar{\xi})^2 - \frac{1}{4} e^{\sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma-1)}{(d-1)(2\sigma-d)}} \bar{\psi} + \sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma-d-1)}{2\sigma-d}} \bar{\zeta}} F_{MN}^{(2)} F^{(2)MN} - \frac{1}{4} e^{\sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma-d-2)}{(2\sigma-d-1)}} \bar{\xi} + \sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma-1)}{(d-1)(2\sigma-d)}} \bar{\psi} - \sqrt{\frac{2\sigma-d}{(2\sigma-d-1)}} \bar{\zeta}} \times \left(F_{MN}^{(1)} F^{(1)MN} + 4\partial^M A^{(0)} A^{(2)N} F_{MN}^{(1)} - 2 \left(A^{(2)M} \partial_M A^{(0)} \right)^2 + 2A_M^{(2)M} \left(\partial A^{(0)} \right)^2 \right) - \frac{1}{2} e^{\sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma-d-2)}{(2\sigma-d-1)}} \bar{\xi} - \sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma-d)}{(2\sigma-d-1)}} \bar{\zeta}} \left(\partial A^{(0)} \right)^2 + 2\sigma(2\sigma-1)e^{-\bar{\psi}} \sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma-d)}{(d-1)(2\sigma-1)}} \right].$$

$$(2.9)$$

We may only canonically normalize positive kinetic terms, thus the rescaling (2.8) assumes that $2\sigma > (d+2)$, since in (2.5) $2\sigma < (d+2)$ would render the ξ kinetic term negative.

2.2 Holographic dictionary

In this section we set up the holographic dictionary of our (d+1)-dimensional theory (2.9) using generalized dimensional reduction, as in [17]. The beauty of this approach lies in the

fact that the higher-dimensional theory (2.1) is relatively simple, with the most general asymptotic solution given by

$$ds_{(2\sigma+1)}^2 = \frac{d\rho^2}{4\rho^2} + \frac{1}{\rho}g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}, \qquad (2.10)$$

$$g_{\mu\nu} = g_{(0)\mu\nu} + \rho g_{(2)\mu\nu} + \dots + \rho^{\sigma} \left(g_{(2\sigma)\mu\nu} + h_{(2\sigma)\mu\nu} \log \rho \right) + \dots, \qquad (2.11)$$

where $g_{(0)\mu\nu}$ is the source. The quantities $\text{Tr}g_{(2\sigma)}$ and $\nabla^{\mu}g_{(2\sigma)\mu\nu}$ are determined locally in terms of the source and all other coefficients are completely determined, while the logarithmic terms $h_{(2\sigma)}$ are present if σ is an integer.

Since all solutions of our theory of interest descend from solutions of (2.1), we simply need to consider the class of asymptotic solutions which has the form of the reduction (2.6) in order to obtain the general asymptotic solution of (2.5).

We begin by writing down the asymptotic expansions of the (d+1)-dimensional fields. We then compute the local boundary counterterm action, needed to ensure that the onshell action is finite. We do this *via* generalized dimensional reduction, which we further use to compute the holographic one-point functions of the lower-dimensional theory. We then use linear combinations of these one-point functions to build the stress-energy tensor, currents and naturally normalized scalar operators of the dual *d*-dimensional field theory. Finally we reduce the higher-dimensional conformal dilatation Ward identity and stress energy tensor conservation equation.

2.2.1 Asymptotic expansion

We expand the (d+1)-dimensional metric in the usual Fefferman-Graham form, as in (2.10),

$$ds_{(d+1)}^{2} = \frac{d\rho^{2}}{4\rho^{2}} + \frac{1}{\rho}\tilde{g}_{ij}(z,\rho)dz^{i}dz^{j}$$

= $\frac{d\rho^{2}}{4\rho^{2}} + \frac{1}{\rho}\left(\tilde{g}_{(0)ij} + \dots + \rho^{\sigma}\tilde{g}_{(2\sigma)ij}\right)dz^{i}dz^{j},$ (2.12)

whilst the scalar fields can be expanded as

$$e^{\frac{2\psi}{(2\sigma-d)}} = \frac{1}{\rho} e^{\frac{2\kappa}{(2\sigma-d)}}, \qquad \kappa = \kappa_{(0)} + \rho \kappa_{(2)} + \dots + \rho^{\sigma} \kappa_{(2\sigma)},$$

$$\zeta = \zeta_{(0)} + \rho \zeta_{(2)} + \dots + \rho^{\sigma} \xi_{(2\sigma)},$$

$$\xi = \xi_{(0)} + \rho \xi_{(2)} + \dots + \rho^{\sigma} \xi_{(2\sigma)},$$
(2.13)

the gauge fields as

$$A_{i}^{(1)}(\rho, z) = A_{i(0)}^{(1)}(z) + \rho A_{i(2)}^{(1)}(z) + \dots + \rho^{\sigma} A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(1)}(z) + \dots ,$$

$$A_{i}^{(2)}(\rho, z) = A_{i(0)}^{(2)}(z) + \rho A_{i(2)}^{(2)}(z) + \dots + \rho^{\sigma} A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(2)}(z) + \dots ,$$
(2.14)

and the axion as

$$A^{(0)}(\rho, z) = A^{(0)}_{(0)}(z) + \rho A^{(0)}_{(2)}(z) + \dots + \rho^{\sigma} A^{(0)}_{(2\sigma)}(z) + \dots$$
(2.15)

We are interested in cases with non-integral σ , so our expansions of interest do not contain the logarithmic terms associated with integer σ .

2.2.2 Counterterms and holographic one-point functions

With the asymptotic solution in hand, we would now like to compute the local boundary counterterms. These are needed to ensure that the on-shell action is finite. Again we turn to generalized dimensional reduction [28] to simplify the process, and perform the same analysis as in [17]. So, as an example we consider the counterterm action for $1 < \sigma < 2$, for which we only need two counterterms. Reducing the two most singular counterterms in $AdS_{2\tilde{\sigma}+1}$ [21] to *d* dimensions, we obtain

$$S_{(d)}^{ct} = L \int_{\rho=\epsilon} \mathrm{d}^{d}x \sqrt{-\gamma_{d}} e^{\psi} \left[2(2\sigma-1) + \frac{1}{2\sigma-2} \left(\hat{R}_{d} - \frac{2\sigma-d-1}{(2\sigma-d)} (\partial\psi)^{2} - \frac{1}{(2\sigma-d)} (\partial\psi)^{2} - \frac{1}{(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1)} (\partial\zeta)^{2} - \frac{1}{(2\sigma-d-1)(2\sigma-d-2)} (\partial\xi)^{2} - \frac{1}{4} e^{\frac{2(\psi+\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)}} F_{ij}^{(2)} F^{(2)ij} - \frac{1}{4} e^{\frac{2(\xi(2\sigma-d)+(2\sigma-d-1)\psi-\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1)}} \times \left(F_{ij}^{(1)} F^{(1)ij} + 4\partial^{i} A^{(0)} A^{(2)j} F_{ij}^{(1)} - 2 \left(A^{(2)i} \partial_{i} A^{(0)} \right)^{2} + 2 \left(e^{\frac{-2(\psi+\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)}} + A_{i}^{(2)} A^{(2)i} \right) \left(\partial A^{(0)} \right)^{2} \right) \right].$$
(2.16)

Next we would like to compute the holographic one-point functions of our lowerdimensional theory. However, we know the formula for the higher-dimensional one-point function,

$$\langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle_{2\sigma} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{-g_{(0),2\sigma}}} \frac{\delta S_{ren}}{\delta g_{(0)}^{\mu\nu}} = 2\sigma L_{\rm AdS} g_{(2\sigma)\mu\nu} + \cdots, \qquad (2.17)$$

with the actual quantity of interest being

$$\langle t_{\mu\nu} \rangle_d \equiv e^{\kappa_{(0)}} (2\pi R)^{2\sigma - d} \langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle_{2\sigma} , \qquad (2.18)$$

since it takes into account the prefactors $(e^{\kappa_{(0)}}, (2\pi R)^{2\sigma-d})$ resulting from the integration over the torus and the change in the metric determinant when going to *d*-dimensions, respectively. The ellipses in (2.17) again represent terms dependent locally on the source which appear when σ is an integer, since in that instance $g_{(0)\mu\nu}$ is curved and there is a conformal anomaly.

Thus, as in [17], we may again simply dimensionally reduce $\langle t_{\mu\nu} \rangle_d$ to obtain the expectation values of the operators in the *d*-dimensional field theory. The various components are given by

$$\langle t_{ij} \rangle_d = 2\sigma L e^{\kappa_{(0)}} \left[\tilde{g}_{(2\sigma)ij} + 2e^{\frac{2(\kappa_{(0)} + \zeta_{(0)})}{2\sigma - d}} \left(A^{(2)}_{(i(0)} A^{(2)}_{j)(2\sigma)} + \frac{A^{(2)}_{i(0)} A^{(2)}_{j(0)}}{2\sigma - d} \left(\kappa_{(2\sigma)} + \zeta_{(2\sigma)} \right) \right) \right]$$

$$+ 2e^{\frac{2((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(0)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)})}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \times$$

$$\begin{split} \times \left(\left(\frac{(2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(2\sigma)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(2\sigma)} - \zeta_{(2\sigma)}}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \right) A_{i(0)}^{(1)} A_{j(0)}^{(1)} \\ + A_{i(0)}^{(1)} A_{j(2\sigma)}^{(1)} \right], \\ \langle t_{iy_1} \rangle_d &= -2\sigma L e^{\kappa_{(0)}} e^{\frac{2((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(0)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)})}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \times \\ \times \left(A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(1)} + \left(\frac{2\left((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(0)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)} \right)}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)} \right) A_{i(0)}^{(1)} \right), \quad (2.19) \\ \langle t_{iy_2} \rangle_d &= 2\sigma L e^{\kappa_{(0)}} \left[-e^{\frac{2(x_{(0)} + \zeta_{(0)})}{2\sigma - d}} \left(\frac{2}{(2\sigma - d)} \left(\kappa_{(2\sigma)} + \zeta_{(2\sigma)} \right) A_{i(0)}^{(2)} + A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(2)} \right) \\ &+ e^{\frac{2((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(0)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(2\sigma)} - \zeta_{(2\sigma)})}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \times \\ \times \left(\left(\frac{2\left((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(2\sigma)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(2\sigma)} - \zeta_{(2\sigma)} \right)}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)} \right) A_{i(0)}^{(1)} A_{i(0)}^{(0)} \\ + A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(1)} A_{i(0)}^{(0)} + A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(1)} A_{i(0)}^{(0)} \right) \right], \\ \langle t_{y_1y_1} \rangle_d &= 4\sigma L e^{\kappa_{(0)}} e^{\frac{2((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(1)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(2\sigma)} - \zeta_{(2\sigma)})}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \\ &= -e^{\frac{2((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(0)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)})}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \times \\ \times \left(\left(\frac{(2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(2\sigma)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(2\sigma)} - \zeta_{(2\sigma)}}}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)} \right) A_{i(0)}^{(0)} \right) \\ + e^{\frac{2((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(0)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(2\sigma)} - \zeta_{(2\sigma)})}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \times \\ \times \left(\left(\frac{(2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(2\sigma)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(2\sigma)} - \zeta_{(2\sigma)}}}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)} \right) A_{i(0)}^{(0)} \right) \\ + A_{i(0)}^{(0)} A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(0)} \right) \\ + A_{i(0)}^{(0)} A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(0)} + \frac{e^{2((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(0)} - (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(2\sigma)} - \zeta_{(2\sigma)}})}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)} \times \\ \times \left(\left(\frac{2((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)})}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)} \right) A_{i(0)}^{(0)} \right) \\ + A_{i(0)}^{(0)} + A_{i(0)}^{(0)} + \frac{A_{i(0)}^{(0)}}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)} \times \\ \times \left(\left(\frac{2((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)} \right) A_{i(0)}^{(0)} \right) \\ + A_{i(0)}^{(0)} + A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(0)} + \frac{e^{2((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)})}}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)} \times \\ \times \left(\left(\frac{2((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)} \right) \right) A_{i(0)}^{(0)} \right) \\ + A_{i(0)}^{(0)} + \frac{e^{2((2\sigma - d -$$

$$-\frac{1}{(2\sigma - d - 1)(2\sigma - d - 2)}\xi_{(2\sigma)} \delta_{ab} + \cdots \\
\equiv -e^{\frac{2\left((2\sigma - d - 1)(2\sigma - d - 2)\kappa_{(0)} - (2\sigma - d - 2)\zeta_{(0)} - (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(0)}\right)}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)(2\sigma - d - 2)}} \langle \mathcal{O}_2 \rangle_d \delta_{ab}, \qquad (2.20)$$

and from these expressions we read off

$$\begin{split} \langle \mathcal{O}_1 \rangle_d &= -\frac{4\sigma L}{2\sigma - d} e^{\kappa_{(0)}} \left[\kappa_{(2\sigma)} + \zeta_{(2\sigma)} + e^{\frac{2(\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)})}{(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \times \right. \\ & \times \left(A_{(0)}^{(0)} {}^2 \left(\kappa_{(2\sigma)} + \frac{(2\sigma - d)}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \xi_{(2\sigma)} - \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \zeta_{(2\sigma)} \right) \right. \\ & \left. + (2\sigma - d) A_{(0)}^{(0)} A_{(2\sigma)}^{(0)} \right) \right] + \cdots, \\ \langle \mathcal{O}_2 \rangle_d &= -\frac{4\sigma L}{2\sigma - d} e^{\kappa_{(0)}} \left(\kappa_{(2\sigma)} - \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \zeta_{(2\sigma)} - \frac{(2\sigma - d)}{(2\sigma - d - 1)(2\sigma - d - 2)} \xi_{(2\sigma)} \right) + \cdots, \\ \langle \mathcal{O}_3 \rangle_d &= -\frac{4\sigma L}{2\sigma - d} e^{\kappa_{(0)}} \left(\kappa_{(2\sigma)} + \frac{(2\sigma - d)}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \xi_{(2\sigma)} - \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \zeta_{(2\sigma)} \right) + \cdots, \\ \langle \mathcal{O}_4 \rangle_d &= \frac{2\sigma L}{2\sigma - d} e^{\kappa_{(0)}} \left(2A_{(0)}^{(0)} \left(\kappa_{(2\sigma)} + \frac{(2\sigma - d)}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \xi_{(2\sigma)} - \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \zeta_{(2\sigma)} \right) \right. \\ & \left. + (2\sigma - d) A_{(2\sigma)}^{(0)} \right) + \cdots. \end{split}$$

In all of the above expressions, the ellipses represent terms containing derivatives of the scalar sources $(\kappa_{(0)}, \zeta_{(0)}, \xi_{(0)})$ and curvatures of the boundary metric $g_{(0)ij}$.

The reduction has thus yielded seven arbitrarily normalized operators: a symmetric tensor $\langle t_{ij} \rangle_d$, two vectors $\langle t_{iy_1} \rangle_d$ and $\langle t_{iy_2} \rangle_d$, as well as four scalar operators.

2.2.3 Stress-energy tensor, currents and scalar operators

With the reduced one-point functions in hand, we now wish to form appropriate linear combinations of them to yield the stress energy tensor $\langle \hat{T}_{ij} \rangle$, currents $\langle \hat{J}_i^{(1)} \rangle$ and $\langle \hat{J}_i^{(2)} \rangle$, and naturally normalized scalar operators of the dual *d*-dimensional field theory, namely $\langle \mathcal{O}_{\psi} \rangle_d$, $\langle \mathcal{O}_{\zeta} \rangle_d$, $\langle \mathcal{O}_{\xi} \rangle_d$ and $\langle \mathcal{O}_{A^{(0)}} \rangle_d$. The specific combinations we use become clear when we study the reduction of the higher-dimensional Ward identities in the next section.

We introduce linear combinations of the scalar operators as follows

$$\begin{split} \langle \mathcal{O}_{\psi} \rangle_{d} &= \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d)} \left[(2\sigma - d - 2) \langle \mathcal{O}_{2} \rangle_{d} + \langle \mathcal{O}_{1} \rangle_{d} + 2A_{(0)}^{(0)} e^{\frac{2}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \left(\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)} \right)} \langle \mathcal{O}_{4} \rangle_{d} \\ &+ \left(1 + e^{\frac{2}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \left(\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)} \right)} A_{(0)}^{(0)} \right) \langle \mathcal{O}_{3} \rangle_{d} \right] , \\ \langle \mathcal{O}_{\xi} \rangle_{d} &= \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \left[\langle \mathcal{O}_{3} \rangle_{d} - \langle \mathcal{O}_{2} \rangle_{d} \right] , \\ \langle \mathcal{O}_{\zeta} \rangle_{d} &= \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d)} \left[\langle \mathcal{O}_{1} \rangle_{d} + 2A_{(0)}^{(0)} e^{\frac{2}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \left(\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)} \right)} \langle \mathcal{O}_{4} \rangle_{d} \right. \\ &+ \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \left[\left((2\sigma - d - 1) e^{\frac{2}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \left(\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)} \right)} A_{(0)}^{(0)} \right)^{2} - 1 \right] \langle \mathcal{O}_{3} \rangle_{d} \end{split}$$

$$-(2\sigma - d - 2)\langle \mathcal{O}_2 \rangle_d]],$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{A^{(0)}} \rangle_d = -e^{\frac{2}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \left(\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)}\right)} \left[\langle \mathcal{O}_4 \rangle_d + A^{(0)}_{(0)} \langle \mathcal{O}_3 \rangle_d \right], \qquad (2.21)$$

so that

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\psi} \rangle_{d} = -\frac{4\sigma L}{(2\sigma - d)} e^{\kappa_{(0)}} \kappa_{(2\sigma)} , \langle \mathcal{O}_{\xi} \rangle_{d} = -\frac{4\sigma L}{(2\sigma - d - 1)(2\sigma - d - 2)} e^{\kappa_{(0)}} \xi_{(2\sigma)} , \langle \mathcal{O}_{\zeta} \rangle_{d} = -\frac{4\sigma L}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)} e^{\kappa_{(0)}} \zeta_{(2\sigma)} , \langle \mathcal{O}_{A^{(0)}} \rangle_{d} = -2\sigma L e^{\kappa_{(0)}} e^{\frac{2}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \left(\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)}\right)} A^{(0)}_{(2\sigma)} .$$
 (2.22)

Furthermore, we write

$$\begin{aligned} A_{(0)i}^{(3)} &\equiv A_{(0)i}^{(1)} + A_{(0)}^{(0)} A_{(0)i}^{(2)}, \\ \langle \hat{J}_{i}^{(1)} \rangle_{d} &= \langle t_{iy_{1}} \rangle_{d} + A_{(0)i}^{(3)} \langle t_{y_{1}y_{1}} \rangle_{d} + A_{(0)i}^{(2)} \langle t_{y_{1}y_{2}} \rangle_{d}, \\ \langle \hat{J}_{i}^{(2)} \rangle_{d} &= \langle t_{iy_{2}} \rangle_{d} + A_{(0)i}^{(3)} \langle t_{y_{1}y_{2}} \rangle_{d} + A_{(0)i}^{(2)} \langle t_{y_{2}y_{2}} \rangle_{d}, \\ \langle \hat{T}_{ij} \rangle_{d} &= \langle t_{ij} \rangle_{d} + \left(A_{(0)i}^{(3)} \langle \hat{J}_{j}^{(1)} \rangle_{d} + A_{(0)j}^{(3)} \langle \hat{J}_{i}^{(1)} \rangle_{d} \right) + \left(A_{(0)i}^{(2)} \langle \hat{J}_{j}^{(2)} \rangle_{d} + A_{(0)j}^{(2)} \langle \hat{J}_{i}^{(2)} \rangle_{d} \right) \\ &\quad + A_{(0)i}^{(3)} A_{(0)j}^{(3)} e^{\frac{2\left((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(0)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)}\right)}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \langle \mathcal{O}_{3} \rangle_{d} + A_{(0)i}^{(2)} A_{(0)j}^{(2)} e^{\frac{2\left(\kappa_{(0)} + \zeta_{(0)}\right)}{2\sigma - d}} \langle \mathcal{O}_{1} \rangle_{d} \\ &\quad + \left(A_{(0)i}^{(3)} A_{(0)j}^{(2)} + A_{(0)i}^{(2)} A_{(0)j}^{(3)} \right) e^{\frac{2\left((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(0)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)}\right)}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}}} \langle \mathcal{O}_{4} \rangle_{d}, \tag{2.23} \end{aligned}$$

so that

$$\langle \hat{J}_{i}^{(1)} \rangle_{d} = -2\sigma L e^{\kappa_{(0)}} e^{\frac{2\left((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(0)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)}\right)}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \left(A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(1)} + A_{(2\sigma)}^{(0)} A_{i(0)}^{(2)} \right) + \cdots, \quad (2.24)$$

$$\langle \hat{J}_{i}^{(2)} \rangle_{d} = -2\sigma L e^{\kappa_{(0)}} \left(e^{\frac{2\left(\kappa_{(0)} + \zeta_{(0)}\right)}{2\sigma - d}} A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(2)} - e^{\frac{2\left((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(0)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)}\right)}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \times \right.$$

$$\times \left(A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(1)} + A_{(2\sigma)}^{(0)} A_{i(0)}^{(2)} \right) A_{(0)}^{(0)} \right) + \cdots, \quad (2.25)$$

$$\langle \hat{T}_{ij} \rangle_d = 2\sigma L e^{\kappa_{(0)}} \tilde{g}_{(2\sigma)ij} + \cdots .$$
(2.26)

In fact, we may also check that varying the renormalized on-shell action with respect to the appropriate source yields each of these combinations in turn. In appendix **B** we show explicitly that $\langle \hat{J}_i^{(1)} \rangle_d$ is the current sourced by $A_{(0)}^{(3)i}$, and $\langle \hat{J}_i^{(2)} \rangle_d$ is the current sourced by $A_{(0)}^{(2)i}$. The metric elements of $g_{(0)\mu\nu}$ and its inverse are also supplied in this appendix.

Now, a distinctive property of the axion is that it enters the action with a derivative, which means that the action remains invariant if one shifts the axion by a constant. Thus, a non-trivial check of the formulas for the one-point functions is that they are all invariant under such a shift. This is true for all of the one-point functions except for $\hat{J}_i^{(2)}$. One can easily see this by looking at the form of (2.22) and (2.24)–(2.26): the only one-point

function which has $A_{(0)}^{(0)}$ in it is clearly (2.25), and under a constant shift in the axion $(A_{(0)}^{(0)} \rightarrow A_{(0)}^{(0)} + c)$, it transforms as

$$\langle \hat{J}_i^{(2)} \rangle_d \to \langle \hat{J}_i^{(2)} \rangle_d - c \langle \hat{J}_i^{(1)} \rangle_d \,. \tag{2.27}$$

This is actually consistent with the invariance of the action under the axion shift, and arises due to the transformation of $A_{(0)i}^{(3)} \rightarrow A_{(0)}^{(3)i} + cA_{(0)}^{(2)i}$. More precisely, from the last line in (2.33) it follows that the coupling in the action is $A_{(0)}^{(3)i}\hat{J}_i^{(1)} + A_{(0)}^{(2)i}\hat{J}_i^{(2)}$, and under the axion shift this combination remains unchanged.

2.2.4 Reduced Ward identities

Beginning with the conformal Ward identity in the 2σ -dimensional theory,

$$\langle T^{\mu}_{\mu} \rangle_{2\sigma} \equiv g^{\mu\nu}_{(0)} \langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle_{2\sigma} = \mathcal{A}_{2\sigma} \,, \qquad (2.28)$$

we use (B.2) and reduce it to

$$\begin{split} \langle t_i^i \rangle_d &+ 2 \left(A_{(0)}^{(1)i} + A_{(0)}^{(2)i} A_{(0)}^{(0)} \right) \langle t_{iy_1} \rangle_d + 2A_{(0)}^{(2)i} \langle t_{iy_2} \rangle_d \\ &- \left(1 + e^{\frac{2}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \left(\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)} \right)} A_{(0)}^{(0)} \, ^2 + e^{\frac{2\left((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(0)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)} \right)}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \times \right. \\ &\times \left(A_{(0)n}^{(1)} A_{(0)}^{(1)n} + A_{(0)n}^{(2)} A_{(0)}^{(2)n} A_{(0)}^{(0)} \, ^2 + 2A_{(0)n}^{(1)} A_{(0)}^{(2)n} A_{(0)}^{(0)} \right) \right) \langle \mathcal{O}_3 \rangle_d \\ &- 2 \left(e^{\frac{2}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \left(\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)} \right)} A_{(0)}^{(0)} + e^{\frac{2\left((2\sigma - d - 1)\kappa_{(0)} + (2\sigma - d)\xi_{(0)} - \zeta_{(0)} \right)}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \times \right. \\ &\times \left(A_{(0)n}^{(1)} A_{(0)}^{(2)n} + A_{(0)n}^{(2)} A_{(0)}^{(2)n} A_{(0)}^{(0)} \right) \right) \langle \mathcal{O}_4 \rangle_d \\ &- \left(1 + e^{\frac{2\left(\kappa_{(0)} + \xi_{(0)}\right)}{2\sigma - d}} A_{(0)n}^{(2)} A_{(0)}^{(2)n} \right) \langle \mathcal{O}_1 \rangle_d - (2\sigma - d - 2) \langle \mathcal{O}_2 \rangle_d \\ &= e^{\kappa_{(0)}} (2\pi R)^{2\sigma - d} \mathcal{A}_{2\sigma} \equiv \mathcal{A}_d \,, \end{split}$$

and using (2.26) and (2.21) we see that this becomes

$$\langle \hat{T}_i^i \rangle_d - (2\sigma - d) \langle \mathcal{O}_\psi \rangle_d = \mathcal{A}_d \,. \tag{2.29}$$

Note in particular that the new scalar operators \mathcal{O}_{ζ} and \mathcal{O}_{ξ} , and the axion operator $\mathcal{O}_{A^{(0)}}$ do not contribute to the dilatation Ward identity above.

In addition, reducing the conservation equation for the higher-dimensional stress energy tensor, namely

$$\nabla^{\mu} \langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle_{2\sigma} = 0, \qquad (2.30)$$

yields

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\nabla}^{i} \langle \hat{T}_{ij} \rangle_{d} &+ \partial_{j} \kappa_{(0)} \langle \mathcal{O}_{\psi} \rangle_{d} + \partial_{j} \zeta_{(0)} \langle \mathcal{O}_{\zeta} \rangle_{d} + \partial_{j} \xi_{(0)} \langle \mathcal{O}_{\xi} \rangle_{d} \\ &+ \partial_{j} A_{(0)}^{(0)} \langle \mathcal{O}_{A^{(0)}} \rangle_{d} + \tilde{F}_{(0)j}^{(3) \ i} \langle \hat{J}_{i}^{(1)} \rangle_{d} + \tilde{F}_{(0)j}^{(2) \ i} \langle \hat{J}_{i}^{(2)} \rangle_{d} = 0 \,, \end{split}$$
(2.31)

and the divergence equations for two currents

$$\tilde{\nabla}^i \langle \hat{J}_i^{(1)} \rangle_d = 0$$
, and $\tilde{\nabla}^i \langle \hat{J}_i^{(2)} \rangle_d = 0$. (2.32)

The form of (2.31) is a further justification for the combinations (2.21) and (2.23) we made in the previous section, since it clearly corresponds to the standard diffeomorphism Ward identity for a theory with stress energy tensor \hat{T}_{ij} in which the other operators are defined in terms of the generating functional W

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\psi} \rangle_{d} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g_{(0)}}} \frac{\delta W}{\delta \kappa_{(0)}}, \qquad \langle \mathcal{O}_{\zeta} \rangle_{d} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g_{(0)}}} \frac{\delta W}{\delta \zeta_{(0)}}, \\ \langle \mathcal{O}_{\xi} \rangle_{d} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g_{(0)}}} \frac{\delta W}{\delta \xi_{(0)}}, \qquad \langle \mathcal{O}_{A^{(0)}} \rangle_{d} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g_{(0)}}} \frac{\delta W}{\delta A^{(0)}_{(0)}}, \\ \langle \hat{J}^{(1)i} \rangle_{d} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g_{(0)}}} \frac{\delta W}{\delta A^{(3)}_{(0)i}}, \qquad \langle \hat{J}^{(2)i} \rangle_{d} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g_{(0)}}} \frac{\delta W}{\delta A^{(2)}_{(0)i}}.$$
(2.33)

We thus see that the non-normalizable modes of the fields $(\psi, \zeta, \xi, A^{(0)})$ indeed source $(\mathcal{O}_{\psi}, \mathcal{O}_{\zeta}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{A^{(0)}})$ respectively, whilst $A^{(3)}_{(0)i}$ and $A^{(2)}_{(0)i}$ source the conserved currents $\hat{J}^{(1)i}$ and $\hat{J}^{(2)i}$ respectively.

3 Black brane universal sector with two Maxwell fields

We wish to study the universal hydrodynamics of non-conformal branes, and specifically we want to make use of the holographic results obtained in section 2, which correspond to action (2.5), so we begin by writing down a black brane solution which carries a wave, and whose universal sector contains the fields we encountered, namely three scalars, an axion and two Maxwell fields. We do this by applying generalized dimensional reduction to a higher-dimensional conformal black brane solution. Now, universal hydrodynamics may be derived by studying the long wavelength fluctuation equations around boosted black brane geometries. Conformal hydrodynamics was derived in this way using the boosted black brane geometry [62], and it is possible to derive non-conformal hydrodynamics using the boosted black Dp brane geometry. Thus, once we have our lower-dimensional boosted brane of interest, we may calculate the transport coefficients corresponding to first-order non-conformal hydrodynamics on the boundary. In [17] we worked out the transport coefficients of a boundary theory dual to a boosted black brane whose universal sector has only one Maxwell field. We may recover all results obtained in [17] by setting $\omega_1 = 0$, $\omega_2 = \omega$, $\tilde{A}_{(0)}^{(1)} = 0$ and $\tilde{A}_{(0)}^{(2)} = \tilde{A}_{(0)}$ in the results of this section.

3.1 Black branes

In this section we show an explicit realization of the setup discussed in section 2 for a particular example: a black brane carrying a wave, whose universal sector is described by gravity coupled to two Maxwell fields, three neutral scalars and an axion. Specifically, we show the dimensional reduction involved in producing this system starting from a higher-dimensional conformal black brane solution, and then use the general setup developed in section 2.2 to determine the equilibrium thermodynamic quantities of the boundary non-conformal hydrodynamics. In principle, we mirror the analysis of [17], but additionally perform another Lorentz transformation on the conformal black brane background in order to get it into the desired form.

3.1.1 Conformal black brane with wave

As in [17], our starting point is a (conformal) black brane solution in $(2\sigma + 1)$ dimensions:

$$ds_{(2\sigma+1)}^{2} = \frac{d\rho^{2}}{4\rho^{2}f(\rho)} + \frac{1}{\rho} \left[-f(\rho)dt'^{2} + dy'^{2} + dy''^{2} + dz_{r}dz^{r} + dy_{a}dy^{a} \right],$$

$$f(\rho) = 1 - m^{2\sigma}\rho^{\sigma}, \qquad (3.1)$$

where (y', y'', y^a, z^r) run over all transverse coordinates $(a = d + 1, ..., 2\sigma - 2)$. Note that we highlight the transverse coordinates y' and y'' because we will boost along each of them by performing successive Lorentz transformations.

Now, the metric (3.1) is Einstein with negative curvature when 2σ is an integer, and has an event horizon at $\rho = m^{-2}$. The Hawking temperature T and Bekenstein-Hawking entropy density s are given by

$$T = \frac{m\sigma}{2\pi}, \qquad s = 4\pi L_{\text{AdS}} m^{2\sigma - 1}.$$
 (3.2)

We introduce a wave into this metric by performing a first Lorentz transformation $t = \cosh \omega_1 t' - \sinh \omega_1 y'$, $y_1 = \cosh \omega_1 y' - \sinh \omega_1 t'$, followed by a second $t'' = \cosh \omega_2 t - \sinh \omega_2 y''$, $y_2 = \cosh \omega_2 y'' - \sinh \omega_2 t$, which gives:

$$ds_{(2\sigma+1)}^{2} = \frac{d\rho^{2}}{4\rho^{2}f(\rho)} - \rho^{-1}K_{1}(\rho)^{-1}K_{2}(\rho)^{-1}f(\rho)dt''^{2} + \rho^{-1}dz_{r}dz^{r} + \rho^{-1}dy_{a}dy^{a} + \frac{K_{1}(\rho)}{\rho} \left[dy_{1} - \left((K_{1}'(\rho))^{-1} - 1 \right) \cosh\omega_{2} dt'' - \left((K_{1}'(\rho))^{-1} - 1 \right) \sinh\omega_{2} dy_{2} \right]^{2} + \frac{K_{2}(\rho)}{\rho} \left[dy_{2} - \left((K_{2}'(\rho))^{-1} - 1 \right) dt'' \right]^{2} , f(\rho) = 1 - m^{2\sigma}\rho^{\sigma} , K_{1}(\rho) = (1 + Q_{1}\rho^{\sigma}) , \qquad \left(K_{1}'(\rho) \right)^{-1} = \left(1 - \bar{Q}_{1}\rho^{\sigma}K_{1}(\rho)^{-1} \right) , K_{2}(\rho) = \left(1 + Q_{2}\rho^{\sigma}K_{1}(\rho)^{-1} \right) , \qquad \left(K_{2}'(\rho) \right)^{-1} = \left(1 - \bar{Q}_{2}\rho^{\sigma}K_{1}(\rho)^{-1}K_{2}(\rho)^{-1} \right) , \qquad (3.3)$$

where

$$Q_1 = m^{2\sigma} \sinh^2 \omega_1, \qquad \qquad \bar{Q}_1 = m^{2\sigma} \sinh \omega_1 \cosh \omega_1, Q_2 = m^{2\sigma} \sinh^2 \omega_2 \cosh^2 \omega_1, \qquad \qquad \bar{Q}_2 = m^{2\sigma} \sinh \omega_2 \cosh \omega_2 \cosh^2 \omega_1.$$

We remove the wave by setting $\omega_1 = \omega_2 = 0$, and recover the extremal limit by setting $m \to 0$ with $\omega_1, \omega_2 \to \infty$ and Q_1, Q_2 finite.

Our aim is to perform a dimensional reduction as in section 2.1, so we first rewrite the geometry (3.3) to fit the structure of (2.2), or equivalently (2.6), and then insist that the coordinates (y_1, y_2, y^a) are periodically identified with period $2\pi R$. We then boost this resulting geometry along the non-compact boundary dimensions with boost parameter \hat{u}_i , satisfying $\eta_{ij}\hat{u}^i\hat{u}^j = -1$, where now $z^i = (t, z^r)$. We also wish to include two external, uniform gauge fields $\tilde{A}^{(1)}_{(0)i} dz^i$ and $\tilde{A}^{(2)}_{(0)i} dz^i$. We do so by performing coordinate transformations on y_1 and y_2 , as $dy_1 \to d\tilde{y}_1 = dy_1 + \tilde{A}^{(1)}_{(0)i} dz^i$ and $dy_2 \to d\tilde{y}_2 = dy_2 + \tilde{A}^{(2)}_{(0)i} dz^i$ respectively. All of these considerations ultimately yield

$$ds_{(2\sigma+1)}^{2} = \frac{d\rho^{2}}{4\rho^{2}f(\rho)} + \frac{1}{\rho} \left(dz^{i}dz_{i} \right) + \frac{1}{\rho} \left(1 - K_{1}(\rho)^{-1}K_{2}(\rho)^{-1}f(\rho) \right) \hat{u}_{i}\hat{u}_{j}dz^{i}dz^{j} + \frac{K_{1}(\rho)}{\rho} \left[d\tilde{y}_{1} - \left(\tilde{A}_{i(0)}^{(1)} + \left((K_{1}'(\rho))^{-1} - 1 \right) \cosh\omega_{2} \hat{u}_{i} - \left((K_{1}'(\rho))^{-1} - 1 \right) \sinh\omega_{2} \tilde{A}_{i(0)}^{(2)} \right) dz^{i} - \left((K_{1}'(\rho))^{-1} - 1 \right) \sinh\omega_{2} d\tilde{y}_{2} \right]^{2} + \frac{K_{2}(\rho)}{\rho} \left[d\tilde{y}_{2} - \left(\tilde{A}_{i(0)}^{(2)} + \left((K_{2}'(\rho))^{-1} - 1 \right) \hat{u}_{i} \right) dz^{i} \right]^{2} + \frac{1}{\rho} dy_{a} dy^{a} .$$

$$(3.4)$$

The next step towards deriving the universal hydrodynamics involves allowing the temperature, charge, fluid velocity and external gauge field to become position dependent, and correcting the metric at each order to satisfy the field equations.

3.1.2 Dimensional reduction

The dimensional reduction involves comparing the metric with (2.2) and reading off the reduced metric, scalar fields, gauge fields and axion (we choose to read off ϕ_1 , ϕ_2 and ϕ_3 and then use (2.4) and (2.4) to evaluate ψ , ζ , and ξ , as opposed to reading these off (2.6), but the latter will yield the same answer). Since we are making contact with section 2.2, in which the reduced metric is written in Fefferman-Graham form and all the fields are expanded using the Fefferman-Graham coordinate ρ (which we call $\tilde{\rho}$ in this section), we will also write all of our quantities of interest in Fefferman-Graham coordinates. This involves a redefinition of the radial coordinate ρ as per [28]:

$$\tilde{\rho}(\rho) = \left(\frac{2}{1+\sqrt{1-m^{2\sigma}\rho^{\sigma}}}\right)^{2/\sigma}\rho \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad \rho(\tilde{\rho}) = \left(1+\frac{m^{2\sigma}\tilde{\rho}^{\sigma}}{4}\right)^{-2/\sigma}\tilde{\rho}.$$
(3.5)

The reduced metric is thus given by

$$ds_{(d+1)}^{2} = \frac{d\rho^{2}}{4\rho^{2}f(\rho)} + \frac{1}{\rho} \left(dz^{i}dz_{i} \right) + \frac{1}{\rho} \left(1 - K_{1}(\rho)^{-1}K_{2}(\rho)^{-1}f(\rho) \right) \hat{u}_{i}\hat{u}_{j}dz^{i}dz^{j}$$
$$= \frac{d\tilde{\rho}^{2}}{4\tilde{\rho}^{2}} + \frac{1}{\tilde{\rho}} \left(1 + \frac{m^{2\sigma}\tilde{\rho}^{\sigma}}{4} \right)^{\frac{2}{\sigma}} dz_{i}dz^{i}$$

$$+\frac{1}{\tilde{\rho}}\left(1+\frac{m^{2\sigma}\tilde{\rho}^{\sigma}}{4}\right)^{\frac{2}{\sigma}}\left[1-K_{1}(\rho(\tilde{\rho}))^{-1}K_{2}(\rho(\tilde{\rho}))^{-1}f(\rho(\tilde{\rho}))\right]\hat{u}_{i}\hat{u}_{j}\mathrm{d}z^{i}\mathrm{d}z^{j}, (3.6)$$

with the scalar fields being

$$e^{2\phi_1} = \frac{K_1(\rho)}{\rho} = \frac{K_1(\rho(\tilde{\rho}))}{\tilde{\rho}} \left(1 + \frac{m^{2\sigma}\tilde{\rho}^{\sigma}}{4}\right)^{\frac{2}{\sigma}},$$

$$e^{\frac{2\phi_2}{(2\sigma-d-2)}} = \frac{1}{\rho} = \frac{1}{\tilde{\rho}} \left(1 + \frac{m^{2\sigma}\tilde{\rho}^{\sigma}}{4}\right)^{\frac{2}{\sigma}},$$

$$e^{2\phi_3} = \frac{K_2(\rho)}{\rho} = \frac{K_2(\rho(\tilde{\rho}))}{\tilde{\rho}} \left(1 + \frac{m^{2\sigma}\tilde{\rho}^{\sigma}}{4}\right)^{\frac{2}{\sigma}}.$$
(3.7)

Rewriting the scalar fields in terms of (ψ, ζ, ξ) we obtain

$$e^{\psi} = \frac{1}{\rho^{\sigma-d/2}} K_1(\rho)^{1/2} K_2(\rho)^{1/2} = \frac{K_1(\rho(\tilde{\rho}))^{\frac{1}{2}} K_2(\rho(\tilde{\rho}))^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\tilde{\rho}^{\frac{2\sigma-d}{2}}} \left(1 + \frac{m^{2\sigma} \tilde{\rho}^{\sigma}}{4}\right)^{\frac{2\sigma-d}{\sigma}},$$

$$e^{\xi} = K_1(\rho(\tilde{\rho}))^{\frac{2\sigma-d-2}{2}},$$

$$e^{\zeta} = K_2(\rho(\tilde{\rho}))^{\frac{2\sigma-d-1}{2}} K_1(\rho(\tilde{\rho}))^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(3.8)

Furthermore, since

$$e^{\frac{2\psi}{2\sigma-d}} = \frac{1}{\tilde{\rho}} e^{\frac{2\kappa}{2\sigma-d}} \,,$$

we get that

$$e^{\kappa} = K_1(\rho(\tilde{\rho}))^{\frac{1}{2}} K_2(\rho(\tilde{\rho}))^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(1 + \frac{m^{2\sigma} \tilde{\rho}^{\sigma}}{4}\right)^{\frac{2\sigma-d}{\sigma}}.$$
(3.9)

The gauge field $A^{(2)}$ is given by

$$A^{(2)} = \tilde{A}^{(2)}_{(0)i} dz^{i} + \left[((K'_{2}(\rho(\tilde{\rho})))^{-1} - 1)\hat{u}_{i} \right] dz^{i}, \qquad (3.10)$$

with

$$A^{(1)} = \tilde{A}^{(1)}_{(0)i} dz^{i} + \left[((K'_{1}(\rho))^{-1} - 1) \cosh \omega_{2} \ \hat{u}_{i} - ((K'_{1}(\rho))^{-1} - 1) \sinh \omega_{2} \ \tilde{A}^{(2)}_{(0)i} \right] dz^{i} , \quad (3.11)$$

and the axion is

$$A^{(0)} = \left((K'_1(\rho(\tilde{\rho})))^{-1} - 1) \right) \sinh \omega_2 \,. \tag{3.12}$$

The other gauge field we are actually interested in, and which sources $\hat{J}^{(1)}$ in the previous section (see (2.23) and (B.7)) is

$$A^{(3)} = A^{(1)} + A^{(0)}A^{(2)}$$

$$= \left(\tilde{A}^{(1)}_{(0)i} + \left(\left(K'_{1}(\rho(\tilde{\rho}))\right)^{-1} - 1\right)\left(\cosh\omega_{2} + \sinh\omega_{2}\left(\left(K'_{2}(\rho(\tilde{\rho}))\right)^{-1} - 1\right)\right)\hat{u}_{i}\right) \mathrm{d}z^{i} .$$
(3.13)

Expansion in Fefferman-Graham coordinates 3.1.3

The next step is to expand the results in the previous section in the Fefferman-Graham radial co-ordinate $\tilde{\rho}$, which gives us

$$\begin{split} \kappa_{(0)} &= 0; & \kappa_{(2\sigma)} = \frac{1}{2}(Q_1 + Q_2) + \frac{(2\sigma - d)}{\sigma} \frac{m^{2\sigma}}{4}, & (3.14) \\ \zeta_{(0)} &= 0; & \zeta_{(2\sigma)} = -\frac{1}{2}Q_1 + \frac{(2\sigma - d - 1)}{2}Q_2, \\ \xi_{(0)} &= 0; & \xi_{(2\sigma)} = \frac{(2\sigma - d - 2)}{2}Q_1, \\ A^{(0)}_{(0)} &= 0; & A^{(0)}_{(2\sigma)} = -\bar{Q}_1 \sinh \omega_2, \\ A^{(1)}_{i(0)} &= \tilde{A}^{(1)}_{i(0)}; & A^{(1)}_{i(2\sigma)} = \bar{Q}_1 \left(\sinh \omega_2 \tilde{A}^{(2)}_{(0)i} - \cosh \omega_2 \hat{u}_i\right), \\ A^{(2)}_{i(0)} &= \tilde{A}^{(2)}_{i(0)}; & A^{(2)}_{i(2\sigma)} = -\bar{Q}_2 \hat{u}_i, \\ A^{(3)}_{i(0)} &= \tilde{A}^{(1)}_{i(0)}; & A^{(3)}_{i(2\sigma)} = -\bar{Q}_1 \cosh \omega_2 \hat{u}_i, \\ \tilde{g}_{(0)ij} &= \eta_{ij}; & \tilde{g}_{(2\sigma)ij} = \frac{m^{2\sigma}}{2\sigma} \eta_{ij} + (Q_1 + Q_2 + m^{2\sigma}) \hat{u}_i \hat{u}_j. \end{split}$$

- \

We now have all the ingredients necessary to extract the expectation values of the dual operators from (2.20), and we obtain

$$\langle \hat{T}_{ij} \rangle_d = Lm^{2\sigma} \eta_{ij} + 2\sigma L(Q_1 + Q_2 + m^{2\sigma}) \hat{u}_i \hat{u}_j = Lm^{2\sigma} \left(\eta_{ij} + 2\sigma \cosh^2 \omega_1 \cosh^2 \omega_2 \, \hat{u}_i \hat{u}_j \right) , \langle \hat{J}_i^{(1)} \rangle_d = 2\sigma L \bar{Q}_1 \cosh \omega_2 \, \hat{u}_i = 2\sigma Lm^{2\sigma} \sinh \omega_1 \cosh \omega_1 \cosh \omega_2 \, \hat{u}_i , \langle \hat{J}_i^{(2)} \rangle_d = 2\sigma L \bar{Q}_2 \, \hat{u}_i = 2\sigma Lm^{2\sigma} \sinh \omega_2 \cosh \omega_2 \cosh^2 \omega_1 \, \hat{u}_i , \langle \mathcal{O}_1 \rangle_d = -Lm^{2\sigma} - 2\sigma L Q_2 = -Lm^{2\sigma} \left(1 + 2\sigma \sinh^2 \omega_2 \cosh^2 \omega_1 \right) , \langle \mathcal{O}_2 \rangle_d = -Lm^{2\sigma} , \langle \mathcal{O}_3 \rangle_d = -Lm^{2\sigma} - 2\sigma L Q_1 = -Lm^{2\sigma} \left(1 + 2\sigma \sinh^2 \omega_1 \right) , \langle \mathcal{O}_4 \rangle_d = -2\sigma L \bar{Q}_1 \sinh \omega_2 = -2\sigma L m^{2\sigma} \sinh \omega_1 \cosh \omega_1 \sinh \omega_2 ,$$
 (3.15)

and using (2.21)

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \mathcal{O}_{\psi} \rangle_d &= -Lm^{2\sigma} - \frac{2\sigma L}{(2\sigma - d)} \left(Q_1 + Q_2 \right) \\ &= -Lm^{2\sigma} - \frac{2\sigma Lm^{2\sigma}}{(2\sigma - d)} \left(\sinh^2 \omega_1 + \sinh^2 \omega_2 \cosh^2 \omega_1 \right) \,, \\ \langle \mathcal{O}_{\xi} \rangle_d &= -\frac{2\sigma LQ_1}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} = -\frac{2\sigma Lm^{2\sigma}}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \sinh^2 \omega_1 \,, \end{aligned}$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\zeta} \rangle_{d} = \frac{2\sigma L}{(2\sigma - d)} \left(\frac{Q_{1}}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} - Q_{2} \right)$$

$$= \frac{2\sigma L m^{2\sigma}}{(2\sigma - d)} \left(\frac{\sinh^{2} \omega_{1}}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} - \sinh^{2} \omega_{2} \cosh^{2} \omega_{1} \right),$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{A^{(0)}} \rangle_{d} = 2\sigma L \bar{Q}_{1} \sinh \omega_{2} = 2\sigma L m^{2\sigma} \sinh \omega_{1} \cosh \omega_{1} \sinh \omega_{2}.$$

$$(3.16)$$

Upon plugging the above into (2.29), we see that the dilatation Ward identity is satisfied.

3.1.4 Thermodynamic quantities

Now, at thermal equilibrium

$$\langle \hat{T}_{ij} \rangle_d = \hat{P} \eta_{ij} + (\hat{P} + \hat{\epsilon}) \hat{u}_i \hat{u}_j , \qquad \langle \hat{J}_i^{(1)} \rangle_d = \hat{q}_1 \hat{u}_i , \qquad \langle \hat{J}_i^{(2)} \rangle_d = \hat{q}_2 \hat{u}_i , \qquad (3.17)$$

where $\hat{\epsilon}$ is the energy density, \hat{q}_1 and \hat{q}_2 the charge densities and \hat{P} the pressure of the fluid dual to the reduced spacetime (3.6). Thus, from the expressions (3.15) we can also read off the thermodynamic quantities,

$$\hat{\epsilon} = Lm^{2\sigma} (2\sigma \cosh^2 \omega_1 \cosh^2 \omega_2 - 1),$$

$$\hat{q}_1 \equiv 2\sigma L \bar{Q}_1 \cosh \omega_2 = 2\sigma L m^{2\sigma} \sinh \omega_1 \cosh \omega_1 \cosh \omega_2,$$

$$\hat{q}_2 \equiv 2\sigma L \bar{Q}_2 = 2\sigma L m^{2\sigma} \sinh \omega_2 \cosh \omega_2 \cosh^2 \omega_1,$$

$$\hat{P} = Lm^{2\sigma}.$$
(3.18)

In addition, from (3.10) and (3.13) we obtain that the chemical potentials¹ are equal to

$$\hat{\mu}_{1} = -\left(\left. \hat{u}^{i} A_{i}^{(3)} \right|_{\rho=0} - \left. \hat{u}^{i} A_{i}^{(3)} \right|_{\rho=m^{-2}} \right) = \frac{\tanh \omega_{1}}{\cosh \omega_{2}},$$
$$\hat{\mu}_{2} = -\left(\left. \hat{u}^{i} A_{i}^{(2)} \right|_{\rho=0} - \left. \hat{u}^{i} A_{i}^{(2)} \right|_{\rho=m^{-2}} \right) = \tanh \omega_{2}.$$
(3.19)

The thermodynamic identities

$$\hat{P} + \hat{\epsilon} = \hat{T}\hat{s} + \hat{q}_1\hat{\mu}_1 + \hat{q}_2\hat{\mu}_2, \qquad d\hat{P} = \hat{s}d\hat{T} + \hat{q}_1d\hat{\mu}_1 + \hat{q}_2d\hat{\mu}_2, \qquad (3.20)$$

indeed hold under these thermodynamic values.

Inverting the expressions in (3.18) to express m, ω_1 and ω_2 in terms of $\hat{\epsilon}$, \hat{q}_1 and \hat{q}_2 , and then using the result in the last expression gives us the equation of state

$$\hat{P}(\hat{\epsilon}, \hat{q}_1, \hat{q}_2) = \frac{1}{2\sigma - 1} \left(\sqrt{(\hat{\epsilon}(\sigma - 1) - \hat{q}_1 \hat{q}_2)^2 + (\hat{\epsilon}^2 - (\hat{q}_1 + \hat{q}_2)^2)(2\sigma - 1)} -\hat{\epsilon}(\sigma - 1) + \hat{q}_1 \hat{q}_2 \right),$$
(3.21)

¹We may use regularity at the horizon, namely $\hat{u}^i A_i^{(I)} \Big|_{\rho=m^{-2}} = 0$ (I = 2, 3), to relate the chemical potentials with the external gauge fields, respectively. However we choose not to do this, since we would like to keep the external gauge fields and chemical potentials as separate quantities when discussing the universal hydrodynamics in the next section. This allows us to make use of previously obtained results which also keep the two quantities distinct, especially the equations from which we extract transport coefficients in section 3.2.

which we may use to evaluate the adiabatic speed of sound [65],

$$\hat{c}_{s}^{2} \equiv \left. \frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{\epsilon}} \right|_{\hat{s}/\hat{q}_{1}, \ \hat{s}/\hat{q}_{2}} = \frac{1}{2(\sigma - 1)\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2} + 1}, \qquad (3.22)$$

where the ratios \hat{s}/\hat{q}_1 and \hat{s}/\hat{q}_2 are kept fixed, and \hat{s} is the reduced entropy density given by

$$\hat{s} = 4\pi L \cosh \omega_1 \cosh \omega_2 m^{2\sigma - 1} \,. \tag{3.23}$$

Analysing (3.21) we see that if $\hat{q}_1, \hat{q}_2 \to 0$, we get $\hat{P} = \hat{\epsilon}/(2\sigma - 1)$, the equation of state for non-conformal branes. Furthermore, in the extremal limit, where $\hat{\epsilon} \to |\hat{q}_1 + \hat{q}_2|, \hat{P} \to 0$ as expected, while above extremality $\hat{\epsilon} > |\hat{q}_1 + \hat{q}_2|$ the expression under the square root is manifestly positive. Lastly, from (3.21) and (3.18) we see that

$$m = \left[\frac{1}{L(2\sigma - 1)} \left(\sqrt{(\hat{\epsilon}(\sigma - 1) - \hat{q}_1 \hat{q}_2)^2 + (\hat{\epsilon}^2 - (\hat{q}_1 + \hat{q}_2)^2)(2\sigma - 1)} - \hat{\epsilon}(\sigma - 1) + \hat{q}_1 \hat{q}_2\right)\right]^{1/2\sigma}.$$
(3.24)

The reduced temperature \hat{T} is given by

$$\hat{T} = \frac{m\sigma}{2\pi\cosh\omega_1\cosh\omega_2} \,. \tag{3.25}$$

With the thermodynamic quantities in hand, we also notice that the expectation value of the scalar operator $\langle \mathcal{O}_{\psi} \rangle_d$ can be expressed in terms of the energy density and pressure as

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\psi} \rangle_d = \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d)} \langle T_i^i \rangle_d = \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d)} \left[(d - 1)\hat{P} - \hat{\epsilon} \right] , \qquad (3.26)$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\zeta} \rangle_d + \langle \mathcal{O}_{\xi} \rangle_d = \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d)} \left[(2\sigma - 1)\hat{P} - \hat{\epsilon} \right],$$
 (3.27)

which shows that $\langle \mathcal{O}_{\psi} \rangle_d$ characterizes the deviation of the equation of state from conformality (as one would expect). The combination $\langle \mathcal{O}_{\zeta} \rangle_d + \langle \mathcal{O}_{\xi} \rangle_d$ is zero in the uncharged case, which yields the equation of state of the non-conformal branes. This is also obtained by taking $q_1, q_2 \to 0$ in (3.21).

3.2 Universal hydrodynamics

In this section we again turn to generalised dimensional reduction in order to obtain the universal hydrodynamics of the charged dilatonic solutions. We are interested in hydrodynamics at first-derivative order. Thus, in the upstairs picture we consider a conformal fluid on a curved manifold in the Landua-Lifshitz frame. Dimensionally reducing the upstairs energy-momentum tensor should in principle yield the transport coefficients of the lowerdimensional theory, but we find that the reduction does not leave us in the Landau-Lifshitz frame in the downstairs picture. Thus, we employ a frame-independent analysis to simplify things. This method uses the requirement that the divergence of the entropy current is positive semi-definite to write down equations from which we may extract the transport coefficients. With these transport coefficients in hand, we discuss various bounds which they might satisfy. Our analysis follows that in [17], except that now we are dealing with an additional charge in our system. Again, by setting $\omega_1 = 0$ and $\omega_2 = \omega$ in all results in this section, we recover the results in [17].

3.2.1 Conformal fluid in higher dimension

As in [17], we begin with a conformal fluid in (2σ) dimensions on a curved manifold with metric $g_{(0)\mu\nu}$, whose hydrodynamic energy-momentum tensor at first-derivative order is given by

$$\langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle_{2\sigma} = \langle T_{\mu\nu}^{\rm eq} \rangle_{2\sigma} + \langle T_{\mu\nu}^{\rm diss} \rangle_{2\sigma} ,$$

$$\langle T_{\mu\nu}^{\rm eq} \rangle_{2\sigma} = P(g_{(0)\mu\nu} + 2\sigma u_{\mu}u_{\nu}) , \qquad \langle T_{\mu\nu}^{\rm diss} \rangle_{2\sigma} = -2\eta_{2\sigma}\sigma_{\mu\nu} ,$$

$$\sigma_{\mu\nu} = P_{\mu}^{\kappa}P_{\nu}^{\lambda}\nabla_{(\kappa}u_{\lambda)} - \frac{1}{2\sigma - 1}P_{\mu\nu}(\nabla \cdot u) , \qquad P_{\mu\nu} = g_{(0)\mu\nu} + u_{\mu}u_{\nu} ,$$

$$(3.28)$$

where T, u_{μ} and $\eta_{2\sigma}$ denote the temperature, velocity and shear viscosity respectively of the fluid and ∇_{μ} is the covariant derivative corresponding to the metric $g_{(0)\mu\nu}$. The conservation of the energy-momentum tensor,

$$\nabla^{\mu} \langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle_{2\sigma} = 0, \qquad (3.29)$$

determines the evolution of the fluid; note also that we are working in Landau-Lifshitz frame, where

$$u^{\mu} \langle T^{\text{diss}}_{\mu\nu} \rangle_{2\sigma} = 0. \qquad (3.30)$$

For later reference, note that for the AdS black brane,

$$P = L_{\text{AdS}} m^{2\sigma}, \qquad \eta_{2\sigma} = \frac{s}{4\pi} = L_{\text{AdS}} m^{2\sigma-1}, \qquad (3.31)$$

by (3.2).

As a first step towards writing down the universal hydrodynamics at first derivative order, we determine the reduced fluid velocity.

3.2.2 Reduced fluid velocity

We reduce the higher-dimensional fluid velocity u^{μ} by setting

$$u_a = 0, \qquad u_{y_1} = \sinh \omega_1, \qquad u_{y_2} = \cosh \omega_1 \sinh \omega_2,$$
 (3.32)

with (y_1, y_2, y^a) being compact dimensions, while ensuring that both

$$u^{\mu}u_{\mu} = -1, \qquad u^{\mu} = g^{\mu\nu}_{(0)}u_{\mu}, \qquad (3.33)$$

and

$$\hat{u}^i \hat{u}_i = -1, \qquad \hat{u}^i = \eta^{ij} \hat{u}_j, \qquad (3.34)$$

hold. In the above, \hat{u}^i is the lower-dimensional fluid velocity. The convention we have chosen in (3.32) serves as a link to the wave generating coordinate transformation of the previous subsection, and allows us to compare what we get *via* (3.28), with what we obtained previously in (3.15). This requires us to first compute the boundary metric $g_{(0)\mu\nu}$, which we read off by using the reduction anzats (2.6) and the expansions of the fields (2.10), (2.13) and (2.14). This yields

$$g_{(0)ij} = \eta_{ij} + A^{(1)}_{(0)i} A^{(1)}_{(0)j} + A^{(2)}_{(0)i} A^{(2)}_{(0)j}, \qquad g_{(0)iy_1} = -A^{(1)}_{(0)i}, \qquad g_{(0)iy_2} = -A^{(2)}_{(0)i}, g_{(0)y_1y_1} = 1, \qquad \qquad g_{(0)y_2y_2} = 1, \qquad \qquad g_{(0)y_1y_2} = 0, \qquad (3.35)$$

with the inverse metric given by

$$\begin{aligned}
g_{(0)}^{ij} &= \eta^{ij}, & g_{(0)}^{iy_1} &= A_{(0)}^{(1)i}, & g_{(0)}^{iy_2} &= A_{(0)}^{(2)i}, \\
g_{(0)}^{y_1y_1} &= 1 + \eta^{ij} A_{(0)i}^{(1)} A_{(0)j}^{(1)}, & g_{(0)}^{y_2y_2} &= 1 + \eta^{ij} A_{(0)i}^{(2)} A_{(0)j}^{(2)}, \\
g_{(0)}^{y_1y_2} &= \eta^{ij} A_{(0)i}^{(1)} A_{(0)j}^{(2)}.
\end{aligned}$$
(3.36)

For simplicity, and to make a connection to the case of the AdS black brane (3.14), we have set $\kappa_{(0)} = \zeta_{(0)} = \xi_{(0)} = A_{(0)}^{(0)} = 0$ in the above, and in what follows. Note that the reduced boundary metric is the Minkowski metric.

With all this in mind, the reduction yields

$$u_{i} = \cosh \omega_{1} \cosh \omega_{2} \hat{u}_{i} - \sinh \omega_{1} A_{(0)i}^{(1)} - \cosh \omega_{1} \sinh \omega_{2} A_{(0)i}^{(2)},$$

$$u_{y_{1}} = \sinh \omega_{1},$$

$$u_{y_{2}} = \cosh \omega_{1} \sinh \omega_{2},$$

$$u^{i} = \cosh \omega_{1} \cosh \omega_{2} \hat{u}^{i},$$

$$u^{y_{1}} = \sinh \omega_{1} + \cosh \omega_{1} \cosh \omega_{2} \hat{u} \cdot A_{(0)}^{(1)},$$

$$u^{y_{2}} = \cosh \omega_{1} \sinh \omega_{2} + \cosh \omega_{1} \cosh \omega_{2} \hat{u} \cdot A_{(0)}^{(2)}.$$
(3.37)

3.2.3 Equilibrium quantities

We may now insert the values (3.37) into (3.28), and using (2.23) obtain the equilibrium (zero-derivative order) values for the stress-energy tensor, currents and operators:

$$\begin{split} \langle \hat{T}_{ij}^{\text{eq}} \rangle_{d} &= \hat{P} \left[\eta_{ij} + 2\sigma \left(u_{i} + u_{y_{1}} A_{(0)i}^{(1)} + u_{y_{2}} A_{(0)i}^{(2)} \right) \left(u_{j} + u_{y_{1}} A_{(0)j}^{(1)} + u_{y_{2}} A_{(0)j}^{(2)} \right) \right] ,\\ \langle \hat{J}_{i}^{(1)\text{eq}} \rangle_{d} &= 2\sigma \hat{P} u_{y_{1}} \left(u_{i} + u_{y_{1}} A_{(0)i}^{(1)} + u_{y_{2}} A_{(0)i}^{(2)} \right) ,\\ \langle \hat{J}_{i}^{(2)\text{eq}} \rangle_{d} &= 2\sigma \hat{P} u_{y_{2}} \left(u_{i} + u_{y_{1}} A_{(0)i}^{(1)} + u_{y_{2}} A_{(0)i}^{(2)} \right) ,\\ \langle \mathcal{O}_{1}^{\text{eq}} \rangle_{d} &= -\hat{P} \left(1 + 2\sigma u_{y_{2}}^{2} \right) ,\\ \langle \mathcal{O}_{2}^{\text{eq}} \rangle_{d} \delta_{ab} &= -\hat{P} \left(\delta_{ab} + 2\sigma u_{a} u_{b} \right) ,\\ \langle \mathcal{O}_{3}^{\text{eq}} \rangle_{d} &= -\hat{P} \left(1 + 2\sigma u_{y_{1}}^{2} \right) ,\\ \langle \mathcal{O}_{4}^{\text{eq}} \rangle_{d} &= -2\sigma \hat{P} u_{y_{1}} u_{y_{2}} , \end{split}$$

which yields

$$\langle \hat{T}_{ij}^{\mathrm{eq}} \rangle_d = \hat{P} \left(\eta_{ij} + 2\sigma \cosh^2 \omega_1 \cosh^2 \omega_2 \hat{u}_i \hat{u}_j \right) , \qquad (3.38)$$

$\langle \hat{J}_i^{(1)\mathrm{eq}} \rangle_d = 2\sigma \hat{P} \sinh \omega_1 \cosh \omega_1 \cosh \omega_2 \hat{u}_i \,, \tag{3.39}$

$$\hat{J}_i^{(2)\text{eq}}\rangle_d = 2\sigma \hat{P} \cosh^2 \omega_1 \cosh \omega_2 \sinh \omega_2 \hat{u}_i \,, \qquad (3.40)$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1^{\text{eq}} \rangle_d = -\hat{P} \left(1 + 2\sigma \cosh^2 \omega_1 \sinh^2 \omega_2 \right) \,, \tag{3.41}$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_2^{\rm eq} \rangle_d = -\hat{P} \,, \tag{3.42}$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_3^{\text{eq}} \rangle_d = -\hat{P} \left(1 + 2\sigma \sinh^2 \omega_1 \right) \,, \tag{3.43}$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_4^{\rm eq} \rangle_d = -2\sigma \hat{P} \sinh \omega_1 \cosh \omega_1 \sinh \omega_2 \,, \qquad (3.44)$$

with

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\psi}^{\mathrm{eq}} \rangle_d = -\frac{P}{(2\sigma - d)} \left(2\sigma \cosh^2 \omega_1 \cosh^2 \omega_2 - d \right) , \qquad (3.45)$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{eq}} \rangle_d = -\frac{2\sigma \dot{P}}{(2\sigma - d - 1)} \sinh^2 \omega_1 \,, \tag{3.46}$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\zeta}^{\mathrm{eq}} \rangle_d = \frac{2\sigma \hat{P}}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)} \left(\sinh^2 \omega_1 - (2\sigma - d - 1) \cosh^2 \omega_1 \sinh^2 \omega_2 \right) , \quad (3.47)$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{A_{(0)}^{(1)}}^{\mathrm{eq}} \rangle_d = 2\sigma \hat{P} \sinh \omega_1 \cosh \omega_1 \sinh \omega_2 \,. \tag{3.48}$$

Using (3.17), we can read off the equilibrium quantities

$$\hat{P} = \frac{L}{L_{\text{AdS}}}P, \qquad \hat{\epsilon} = \left(2\sigma\cosh^2\omega_1\cosh^2\omega_2 - 1\right)\hat{P},$$

$$\hat{\epsilon} = \left(2\sigma\cosh^2\omega_1\cosh^2\omega_2 - 1\right)\hat{P},$$

$$\hat{q}_1 = 2\sigma P \sinh \omega_1 \cosh \omega_1 \cosh \omega_2, \qquad \hat{q}_2 = 2\sigma P \cosh \omega_2 \sinh \omega_2 \cosh^2 \omega_1. \qquad (3.49)$$

Using (3.31) for the pressure density of the AdS black brane recovers (3.18) as well as the dual operators in (3.15).

3.2.4 Dissipative extension and transport coefficient formulae

We now move on to the dissipative part. We wish to evaluate the transport coefficients characterizing the reduced dual field theory. Since the upstairs picture comprises a conformal fluid in (2σ) dimensions governed by (3.28), (3.29) and (3.30), we see that the only transport coefficient in the upstairs picture is the shear viscosity $\eta_{2\sigma}$. In the downstairs picture we will also end up with a shear viscosity $\hat{\eta}$, but also bulk viscosity $\hat{\zeta}_s$ and heat conductivity $\hat{\kappa}_T$. We may obtain these transport coefficients by dimensionally reducing $\langle T^{\text{diss}}_{\mu\nu} \rangle_{2\sigma}$ in (3.28) using $u^{\mu} = (u^i, 0, u^{y_1}, u^{y_2})$ from (3.37). However, we find that reducing the Landau-Lifshitz frame condition (3.30) doesn't result in the reduced frame also being the Landau-Lifshitz frame. More precisely, as a first step in reducing $u^{\mu} \langle T^{\text{diss}}_{\mu\nu} \rangle_{2\sigma} = 0$ we write

$$\nu = j: \qquad \qquad u^i \langle T_{ij}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{2\sigma} + u^{y_1} \langle T_{y_1j}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{2\sigma} + u^{y_2} \langle T_{y_2j}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{2\sigma} = 0, \qquad (3.50)$$

$$\nu = y_1: \qquad \qquad u^i \langle T_{iy_1}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{2\sigma} + u^{y_1} \langle T_{y_1y_1}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{2\sigma} + u^{y_2} \langle T_{y_2y_1}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{2\sigma} = 0, \qquad (3.51)$$

$$\nu = y_2: \qquad \qquad u^i \langle T_{iy_2}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{2\sigma} + u^{y_1} \langle T_{y_1y_2}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{2\sigma} + u^{y_2} \langle T_{y_2y_2}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{2\sigma} = 0.$$
(3.52)

Using (2.23) these become

$$\hat{u}^{i} \langle \hat{T}_{ij}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} = -\frac{\tanh \omega_{1}}{\cosh \omega_{2}} \langle \hat{J}_{j}^{(1)\text{diss}} \rangle - \tanh \omega_{2} \langle \hat{J}_{j}^{(2)\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} \,,$$

$$\hat{u}^{i} \langle \hat{J}_{i}^{(1)\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} = \frac{\tanh \omega_{1}}{\cosh \omega_{2}} \langle \mathcal{O}_{3}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} + \tanh \omega_{2} \langle \mathcal{O}_{4}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} ,$$
$$\hat{u}^{i} \langle \hat{J}_{i}^{(2)\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} = \frac{\tanh \omega_{1}}{\cosh \omega_{2}} \langle \mathcal{O}_{4}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} + \tanh \omega_{2} \langle \mathcal{O}_{1}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} .$$
(3.53)

More precisely, (3.50) becomes

$$\hat{u}^{i} \langle \hat{T}_{ij}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} - \hat{u}^{i} A_{j(0)}^{(1)} \langle \hat{J}_{i}^{(1)\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} - \hat{u}^{i} A_{j(0)}^{(2)} \langle \hat{J}_{i}^{(2)\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} + \frac{\tanh \omega_{1}}{\cosh \omega_{2}} \left[\langle \hat{J}_{j}^{(1)\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} + A_{j(0)}^{(1)} \langle \mathcal{O}_{3}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} + A_{j(0)}^{(2)} \langle \mathcal{O}_{4}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} \right] + \tanh \omega_{2} \left[\langle \hat{J}_{j}^{(2)\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} + A_{j(0)}^{(1)} \langle \mathcal{O}_{4}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} + A_{j(0)}^{(2)} \langle \mathcal{O}_{1}^{\text{diss}} \rangle_{d} \right] = 0,$$
 (3.54)

which yields the first expression in (3.53) once the last two expressions in (3.53) are substituted into it.

It is clear that (3.53) does not represent a Landau-Lifshitz frame in the reduced theory. As a result, we will use the frame-independent analysis developed in [66], which relies on ensuring that the divergence of the entropy current is positive semi-definite. In this case, starting from the $(2\sigma + 1)$ -dimensional entropy current in Landau-Lifshitz frame

$$\langle J_s^\mu \rangle_{2\sigma} = s u^\mu \,, \tag{3.55}$$

obeying divergence relation

$$\nabla_{\mu} \langle J_{s}^{\mu} \rangle_{2\sigma} = -\nabla_{\mu} \left(\frac{u_{\nu}}{T} \right) \langle T_{\text{diss}}^{\mu\nu} \rangle_{2\sigma} = -\frac{1}{T} \sigma_{\mu\nu} \langle T_{\text{diss}}^{\mu\nu} \rangle_{2\sigma} , \qquad (3.56)$$

upon reduction we obtain

$$\langle J_s^i \rangle_d = \hat{s}\hat{u}^i, \qquad \hat{s} = \frac{L\cosh\omega_1\cosh\omega_2}{L_{\rm AdS}}s,$$
(3.57)

with

$$\begin{split} \nabla_{i}\langle J_{s}^{i}\rangle_{d} &= -\partial_{i}\left(\frac{\hat{u}_{j}}{\hat{T}}\right)\langle\hat{T}_{\mathrm{diss}}^{ij}\rangle_{d} - \left[\partial_{i}\frac{\hat{\mu}_{1}}{\hat{T}} - \frac{\hat{u}_{k}}{\hat{T}}F_{(0)}^{(1)k}{}_{i}\right]\langle\hat{J}_{\mathrm{diss}}^{(1)i}\rangle_{d} \\ &- \left[\partial_{i}\frac{\hat{\mu}_{2}}{\hat{T}} - \frac{\hat{u}_{k}}{\hat{T}}F_{(0)}^{(2)i}{}_{i}\right]\langle\hat{J}_{\mathrm{diss}}^{(2)i}\rangle_{d} \,. \\ &= -\frac{(\partial\cdot\hat{u})}{\hat{T}}\left[\frac{\langle\hat{T}_{\mathrm{diss}}^{ij}\rangle\hat{P}_{ij}}{(d-1)} - \left(\frac{\partial\hat{P}}{\partial\hat{\epsilon}}\right)\right|_{\hat{q}_{1},\hat{q}_{2}}\langle\hat{T}_{\mathrm{diss}}^{ij}\rangle\hat{u}_{i}\hat{u}_{j} + \left(\frac{\partial\hat{P}}{\partial\hat{q}_{1}}\right)\right|_{\hat{\epsilon},\hat{q}_{2}}\langle\hat{J}_{\mathrm{diss}}^{(1)i}\rangle\hat{u}_{i} \\ &+ \left(\frac{\partial\hat{P}}{\partial\hat{q}_{2}}\right)\right|_{\hat{\epsilon},\hat{q}_{1}}\langle\hat{J}_{\mathrm{diss}}^{(2)i}\rangle\hat{u}_{i}\right] - \frac{\langle\hat{T}_{\mathrm{diss}}^{ij}\rangle\hat{\sigma}_{ij}}{\hat{T}} \\ &+ V_{1i}^{(1)}\left[\langle\hat{J}_{\mathrm{diss}}^{(1)i}\rangle + \left(\frac{\hat{q}_{1}}{\hat{P}+\hat{\epsilon}}\right)\langle\hat{T}_{\mathrm{diss}}^{ij}\rangle\hat{u}_{j}\right] \\ &+ V_{1i}^{(2)}\left[\langle\hat{J}_{\mathrm{diss}}^{(2)i}\rangle + \left(\frac{\hat{q}_{2}}{\hat{P}+\hat{\epsilon}}\right)\langle\hat{T}_{\mathrm{diss}}^{ij}\rangle\hat{u}_{j}\right], \end{split}$$
(3.58)

where, for I = 1, 2,

$$V_{1i}^{(I)} = -\left(P_{ij}\partial^{j}\frac{\hat{\mu}_{I}}{\hat{T}} + \frac{F_{(0)ij}^{(I)}\hat{u}^{j}}{\hat{T}}\right).$$
(3.59)

We obtain the last equality in (3.58) above by following the logic outlined in [66], but extended to include an extra charge (in [66] they deal with a singly charged system). For more details on how we used the method of [66] to derive the above, and hence the following equations, refer to appendix C. Requiring (3.58) to be positive semi-definite leads to the formulae

$$\hat{P}_{k}^{i}\hat{P}_{l}^{j}\langle\hat{T}_{ij}^{\text{diss}}\rangle_{d} - \frac{1}{d-1}\hat{P}_{kl}\hat{P}^{ij}\langle\hat{T}_{ij}^{\text{diss}}\rangle_{d} = -2\hat{\eta}\hat{\sigma}_{kl}, \qquad (3.60)$$

$$\hat{P}_{i}^{j}\left(\langle \hat{J}_{j}^{(1)\text{diss}}\rangle_{d} + \frac{\hat{q}_{1}}{\hat{\epsilon} + \hat{P}}\hat{u}^{k}\langle \hat{T}_{kj}^{\text{diss}}\rangle_{d}\right) = -\hat{\kappa}_{11}\left(\hat{P}_{ij}\partial^{j}\frac{\hat{\mu}_{1}}{\hat{T}} + \frac{F_{(0)ij}^{(1)}\hat{u}^{j}}{\hat{T}}\right) \\
-\hat{\kappa}_{12}\left(\hat{P}_{ij}\partial^{j}\frac{\hat{\mu}_{2}}{\hat{T}} + \frac{F_{(0)ij}^{(2)}\hat{u}^{j}}{\hat{T}}\right),$$
(3.61)

$$\hat{P}_{i}^{j}\left(\langle\hat{J}_{j}^{(2)\text{diss}}\rangle_{d} + \frac{\hat{q}_{2}}{\hat{\epsilon} + \hat{P}}\hat{u}^{k}\langle\hat{T}_{kj}^{\text{diss}}\rangle_{d}\right) = -\hat{\kappa}_{22}\left(\hat{P}_{ij}\partial^{j}\frac{\hat{\mu}_{2}}{\hat{T}} + \frac{F_{(0)ij}^{(2)}\hat{u}^{j}}{\hat{T}}\right) \\ -\hat{\kappa}_{21}\left(\hat{P}_{ij}\partial^{j}\frac{\hat{\mu}_{1}}{\hat{T}} + \frac{F_{(0)ij}^{(1)}\hat{u}^{j}}{\hat{T}}\right), \qquad (3.62)$$

$$\frac{\hat{P}^{ij}\langle\hat{T}^{\text{diss}}_{ij}\rangle_d}{d-1} - \frac{\partial\hat{P}}{\partial\hat{\epsilon}}\hat{u}^i\hat{u}^j\langle\hat{T}^{\text{diss}}_{ij}\rangle_d + \frac{\partial\hat{P}}{\partial\hat{q}_1}\hat{u}^i\langle\hat{J}^{(1)\text{diss}}_i\rangle_d + \frac{\partial\hat{P}}{\partial\hat{q}_2}\hat{u}^i\langle\hat{J}^{(2)\text{diss}}_i\rangle_d = -\hat{\zeta}_s\partial_i\hat{u}^i .$$
(3.63)

In the above $\hat{\eta} \ge 0$, $\hat{\zeta}_s \ge 0$, while $\hat{\kappa}_{11} > 0$, $\hat{\kappa}_{22} > 0$, with det $\hat{\kappa} = (\hat{\kappa}_{11}\hat{\kappa}_{22} - (\hat{\kappa}_{12})^2) > 0$. We may obtain these latter conditions involving $\hat{\kappa}_{ij}$, (i, j = 1, 2) by noting that if we substitute (3.61) and (3.62) into the last two lines of (3.58), we get

$$V_{1}^{(1)} \left(\hat{\kappa}_{11} V_{1}^{(1)} + \hat{\kappa}_{12} V_{1}^{(2)} \right) + V_{1}^{(2)} \left(\hat{\kappa}_{21} V_{1}^{(1)} + \hat{\kappa}_{22} V_{1}^{(2)} \right)$$

= $\hat{\kappa}_{11} \left(V_{1}^{(1)} \right)^{2} + 2\hat{\kappa}_{12} V_{1}^{(1)} V_{1}^{(2)} + \hat{\kappa}_{22} \left(V_{1}^{(2)} \right)^{2} ,$ (3.64)

where $\hat{\kappa}_{12} = \hat{\kappa}_{21}$. The quadratic polynomial above is positive for all $V_1^{(1)}, V_1^{(2)}$ if it is positive somewhere and has no real roots. Now, if $V_1^{(1)} \gg V_1^{(2)}$, the polynomial is positive if $\hat{\kappa}_{11} > 0$. No real roots implies

$$(2\hat{\kappa}_{12})^2 - 4\hat{\kappa}_{11}\hat{\kappa}_{22} < 0 \Rightarrow \det \hat{\kappa} > 0, \qquad (3.65)$$

which then implies that $\hat{\kappa}_{22} > 0$. Similarly, if $V_1^{(2)} \gg V_1^{(1)}$ the polynomial is positive if $\hat{\kappa}_{22} > 0$, such that det $\hat{\kappa} > 0 \Rightarrow \hat{\kappa}_{11} > 0$.

Now applying the reduced conditions (3.53) on the equations (3.61), (3.62) and (3.63) yields

$$\hat{P}^{ij}\langle\hat{J}_{j}^{(1)\text{diss}}\rangle_{d}\left(1-\frac{\hat{q}_{1}}{\hat{\epsilon}+\hat{P}}\frac{\tanh\omega_{1}}{\cosh\omega_{2}}\right)-\hat{P}^{ij}\langle\hat{J}_{j}^{(2)\text{diss}}\rangle_{d}\left(\frac{\hat{q}_{1}}{\hat{\epsilon}+\hat{P}}\tanh\omega_{2}\right)$$

$$= -\hat{\kappa}_{11} \left(\hat{P}^{ij} \partial_j \frac{\hat{\mu}_1}{\hat{T}} + \frac{F_{(0)}^{(1)ij} \hat{u}_j}{\hat{T}} \right) - \hat{\kappa}_{12} \left(\hat{P}^{ij} \partial_j \frac{\hat{\mu}_2}{\hat{T}} + \frac{F_{(0)}^{(2)ij} \hat{u}_j}{\hat{T}} \right) , \qquad (3.66)$$

$$\hat{P}^{ij}\langle\hat{J}_{j}^{(2)\text{diss}}\rangle_{d}\left(1-\frac{q_{2}}{\hat{\epsilon}+\hat{P}}\tanh\omega_{2}\right)-\hat{P}^{ij}\langle\hat{J}_{j}^{(1)\text{diss}}\rangle_{d}\left(\frac{q_{2}}{\hat{\epsilon}+\hat{P}}\frac{\tanh\omega_{1}}{\cosh\omega_{2}}\right)$$

$$=-\hat{\kappa}_{22}\left(\hat{P}^{ij}\partial_{j}\frac{\hat{\mu}_{2}}{\hat{T}}+\frac{F_{(0)}^{(2)ij}\hat{u}_{j}}{\hat{T}}\right)-\hat{\kappa}_{21}\left(\hat{P}^{ij}\partial_{j}\frac{\hat{\mu}_{1}}{\hat{T}}+\frac{F_{(0)}^{(1)ij}\hat{u}_{j}}{\hat{T}}\right),\qquad(3.67)$$

$$\frac{\hat{P}^{ij}\langle\hat{T}_{ij}^{\text{diss}}\rangle_{d}}{(d-1)}+\frac{\tanh\omega_{1}}{\cosh\omega_{2}}\left(\frac{\tanh\omega_{1}}{\cosh\omega_{2}}\frac{\partial\hat{P}}{\partial\hat{\epsilon}}+\frac{\partial\hat{P}}{\partial\hat{q}_{1}}\right)\langle\mathcal{O}_{3}^{\text{diss}}\rangle_{d}$$

$$+ \tanh \omega_2 \left(\tanh \omega_2 \frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{\epsilon}} + \frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{q}_2} \right) \langle \mathcal{O}_1^{\text{diss}} \rangle_d + \left(\frac{2 \tanh \omega_1 \tanh \omega_2}{\cosh \omega_2} \frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{\epsilon}} + \tanh \omega_2 \frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{q}_1} + \frac{\tanh \omega_1}{\cosh \omega_2} \frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{q}_2} \right) \langle \mathcal{O}_4^{\text{diss}} \rangle_d = -\hat{\zeta}_s \partial_i \hat{u}^i .$$
(3.68)

From these formulae we may thus extract the reduced transport coefficients $\hat{\eta}$, $\hat{\zeta}_s$ and the heat conductivity matrix $\hat{\kappa}_{ij}$, for i, j = 1, 2. The details of this are given in appendix D. We obtain

$$\hat{\eta} = \eta_d \cosh \omega_1 \cosh \omega_2 = Lm^{2\sigma-1} \cosh \omega_1 \cosh \omega_2 \tag{3.69}$$

$$= L \left(\frac{2\pi \hat{T}}{\sigma}\right)^{2\sigma-1} \left(1 - \hat{\mu}_1^2 - \hat{\mu}_2^2\right)^{-\sigma}, \qquad (3.70)$$

$$\hat{\kappa}_{11} = \eta_d \frac{\sigma m}{2\pi} \left(1 - \frac{\sinh^2 \omega_1}{\cosh^2 \omega_1 \cosh^2 \omega_2} \right) = \frac{\sigma L m^{2\sigma}}{2\pi} \left(1 - \frac{\sinh^2 \omega_1}{\cosh^2 \omega_1 \cosh^2 \omega_2} \right) \quad (3.71)$$

$$= \frac{\sigma L}{2\pi} \left(\frac{2\pi \hat{T}}{\sigma}\right)^{2\sigma} \left(1 - \hat{\mu}_1^2 - \hat{\mu}_2^2\right)^{-\sigma} \left(1 - \hat{\mu}_1^2\right), \qquad (3.72)$$

$$\hat{\kappa}_{22} = \eta_d \frac{\sigma m}{2\pi} \frac{1}{\cosh^2 \omega_2} = \frac{\sigma L m^{2\sigma}}{2\pi} \frac{1}{\cosh^2 \omega_2}$$
(3.73)

$$= \frac{\sigma L}{2\pi} \left(\frac{2\pi \hat{T}}{\sigma}\right)^{2\sigma} \left(1 - \hat{\mu}_1^2 - \hat{\mu}_2^2\right)^{-\sigma} \left(1 - \hat{\mu}_2^2\right), \qquad (3.74)$$

$$\hat{\kappa}_{12} = \hat{\kappa}_{21} = -\eta_d \frac{\sigma m}{2\pi} \frac{\sinh \omega_1 \sinh \omega_2}{\cosh \omega_1 \cosh^2 \omega_2} = -\frac{\sigma L m^{2\sigma}}{2\pi} \frac{\sinh \omega_1 \sinh \omega_2}{\cosh \omega_1 \cosh^2 \omega_2}$$
(3.75)

$$= -\frac{\sigma L}{2\pi} \left(\frac{2\pi \hat{T}}{\sigma}\right)^{2\sigma} \left(1 - \hat{\mu}_1^2 - \hat{\mu}_2^2\right)^{-\sigma} \hat{\mu}_1 \hat{\mu}_2, \qquad (3.76)$$

$$\hat{\zeta}_s = 2\eta_d \cosh \omega_1 \cosh \omega_2$$

$$\times \left[\frac{1}{(d-1)} - \frac{(2(\sigma-1)\cosh^4\omega_1\cosh^4\omega_2 + 2\cosh^2\omega_1\cosh^2\omega_2 - 1)}{(2(\sigma-1)\cosh^2\omega_1\cosh^2\omega_2 + 1)^2}\right] \quad (3.77)$$

$$= 2\hat{\eta} \left[\frac{1}{d-1} - \frac{\left(2\sigma - 1 - (\hat{\mu}_1^2 + \hat{\mu}_2^2)^2\right)}{\left(2\sigma - 1 - \hat{\mu}_1^2 - \hat{\mu}_2^2\right)^2} \right], \qquad (3.78)$$

where η_d is the shear viscosity of the reduced uncharged case,

$$\eta_d = \frac{L}{L_{\text{AdS}}} \eta_{2\sigma} = L m^{2\sigma - 1} \,. \tag{3.79}$$

In the above we have also re-expressed all the transport coefficients for the reduced AdS black brane in terms of the temperature and chemical potentials. Note also that the conditions required for our transport coefficients are indeed satisfied: $\hat{\zeta}_s \geq 0$, $\hat{\eta} \geq 0$, while $\hat{\kappa}_{11} > 0$, $\hat{\kappa}_{22} > 0$, with $\hat{\kappa}_{11}\hat{\kappa}_{22} - (\hat{\kappa}_{12})^2 = \left(\frac{\sigma Lm^{2\sigma}}{2\pi}\right)^2 / (\cosh^2 \omega_1 \cosh^2 \omega_2) > 0$. We may use the heat conductivity matrix $\hat{\kappa}_{ij}$ for i, j = 1, 2 to obtain the heat conductivity using [67, 68],

$$\hat{\kappa}_T \equiv \left(\frac{\hat{\epsilon} + \hat{P}}{\hat{T}}\right)^2 \frac{1}{\sum_{i,j=1}^2 \hat{q}_i \hat{\kappa}_{ij}^{-1} \hat{q}_j} = \frac{2\pi L m^{2\sigma-2}}{\sigma} \frac{\cosh^2 \omega_1 \cosh^2 \omega_2}{\left(\cosh^2 \omega_1 \cosh^2 \omega_2 - 1\right)}$$
(3.80)

$$= \frac{2\pi L}{\sigma} \left(\frac{2\pi \hat{T}}{\sigma}\right)^{2\sigma-2} \frac{\left(1-\hat{\mu}_1^2-\hat{\mu}_2^2\right)^{1-\sigma}}{\hat{\mu}_1^2+\hat{\mu}_2^2} \,. \tag{3.81}$$

A recent formula for $\zeta_s/\hat{\eta}$ first developed in [75], allows us to check our value for the shear to bulk viscosity ratio formed from (3.77) and (3.69)

$$\frac{\hat{\zeta}_s}{\hat{\eta}} = 2 \left[\frac{1}{(d-1)} - \frac{(2(\sigma-1)\cosh^4\omega_1\cosh^4\omega_2 + 2\cosh^2\omega_1\cosh^2\omega_2 - 1)}{(2(\sigma-1)\cosh^2\omega_1\cosh^2\omega_2 + 1)^2} \right].$$
 (3.82)

The formula is quoted in [75] as

$$\frac{\hat{\zeta}_s}{\hat{\eta}} = \sum_I \left(\hat{s} \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi_h^I}{\mathrm{d}\hat{s}} + \hat{q}_a \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi_h^I}{\mathrm{d}\hat{q}_a} \right)^2 \,, \tag{3.83}$$

where \hat{q}_a are conserved charge densities and ϕ_h^I are a collection of scalar fields, evaluated at the event horizon, and the formula is valid in the Einstein frame where the entropy density \hat{s} is given by the quarter of the horizon area. This formula was derived for an action in which the scalar fields ϕ^I are canonically normalised. However, in our case we need to adjust this formula slightly to account for the non-standard normalisation of the axion kinetic term in our action (2.9). Following the same procedure in appendix E as outlined in [75], we arrive at the following formula:

$$\frac{\hat{\zeta}_s}{\hat{\eta}} = \Omega_{IJ} \left(\hat{s} \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi_h^I}{\mathrm{d}\hat{s}} + \hat{q}^a \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi_h^I}{\mathrm{d}\hat{q}^a} \right) \left(\hat{s} \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi_h^J}{\mathrm{d}\hat{s}} + \hat{q}^a \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi_h^J}{\mathrm{d}\hat{q}^a} \right) \,, \tag{3.84}$$

where $\phi^{I} = \{\bar{\psi}, \bar{\zeta}, \bar{\xi}, A^{(0)}\}$, and $\Omega_{IJ} = \text{diag}\{1, 1, 1, \left(\frac{\cosh \omega_{1}}{\cosh \omega_{2}}\right)^{2}\}$. Note that $\Omega_{IJ} = \text{diag}\{1, 1, \dots, 1\}$ reproduces (3.83), and corresponds to all the scalar kinetic terms being canonically normalised as done in [75]. The entropy and charge density in the Einstein frame are still given by (3.23) and (3.18), the scalars we use in (3.84) are obtained from (3.8) but further normalized as in (2.8), and the axion is obtained from (3.12). We provide the details in re-evaluating $\hat{\zeta}_{s}/\hat{\eta}$ using formula (3.84) in appendix F.

The DC conductivity can be deduced using the Wiedemann-Franz law:

$$\hat{\sigma}_{DC} = c_1 \frac{\hat{\kappa}_T}{\hat{T}} = c_1 \frac{4\pi^2 L m^{2\sigma-3}}{\sigma^2} \frac{\cosh^3 \omega_1 \cosh^3 \omega_2}{(\cosh^2 \omega_1 \cosh^2 \omega_2 - 1)} = c_1 \left(\frac{2\pi}{\sigma}\right)^2 L \left(\frac{2\pi \hat{T}}{\sigma}\right)^{2\sigma-3} \frac{\left(1 - \hat{\mu}_1^2 - \hat{\mu}_2^2\right)^{1-\sigma}}{\hat{\mu}_1^2 + \hat{\mu}_2^2}, \quad (3.85)$$

where c_1 is a proportionality constant. Furthermore we note that the ratio of thermal conductivity and shear viscosity obeys a simple relation similar to the Wiedemann-Franz law, even in the presence of multiple chemical potential:

$$\frac{\hat{\kappa}_T \left(\hat{\mu}_1^2 + \hat{\mu}_2^2\right)}{\hat{\eta}\hat{T}} = \left(\frac{2\pi}{\sigma m}\right)^2.$$
(3.86)

Again, using the results in [17] for the single charge case, we obtain the same value for this ratio (with $\hat{\mu}_1^2 + \hat{\mu}_2^2$ replaced by $\hat{\mu}^2$).

3.2.5 Discussion of various bounds

Note that the transport coefficients (3.69)–(3.77) are universally valid for any solution with the same asymptotics as the black brane solution discussed in the previous section.

We first consider the bulk to shear viscosity ratio, given by (3.82), whose value is fixed kinematically by the reduction, and will be different depending on the asymptotics of the system. This is also true for the ratio $\hat{\kappa}_T/\hat{\eta}$.

As in [17], the bound proposed in [71] for the bulk to shear viscosity ratio

$$\hat{\zeta}_s \\ \hat{\eta} \ge 2 \left(\frac{1}{d-1} - \hat{c}_s^2 \right) \,, \tag{3.87}$$

doesn't hold. And again, for a general system there is no reason to expect that such a bound would necessarily apply, since $\hat{\zeta}_s/\hat{\eta}$ is fixed kinematically. Indeed, rewriting (3.82) using (3.22), we obtain

$$\frac{\hat{\zeta}_s}{\hat{\eta}} = 2\left(\frac{1}{d-1} - \hat{c}_s^2\right) - \frac{4\left((\sigma-1)\cosh^4\omega_1\cosh^4\omega_2 + (2-\sigma)\cosh^2\omega_1\cosh^2\omega_2 - 1\right)}{\left(2(\sigma-1)\cosh^2\omega_1\cosh^2\omega_2 + 1\right)^2}, \quad (3.88)$$

so that clearly this bound is always violated, except if

$$\sigma < \hat{\mu}_1^2 + \hat{\mu}_2^2 \,. \tag{3.89}$$

Since $\hat{\mu}_1^2 + \hat{\mu}_2^2 = 1 - 1/(\cosh^2 \omega_1 \cosh^2 \omega_2) \le 1$, the above is only possible if $\sigma < 1$. The equality is achieved when either $\hat{\mu}_1 = \hat{\mu}_2 = 0$ (neutral case) or else $\hat{\mu}_1^2 + \hat{\mu}_2^2 = \sigma$.

However, an inequality which is satisfied in this case, and was also satisfied in [17], is

$$\frac{\hat{\zeta}_s}{\hat{\eta}} \ge 2\left(\frac{1}{d-1} - \hat{c}_q^2\right),\tag{3.90}$$

where for our case

$$\hat{c}_q^2 \equiv \left. \frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{\epsilon}} \right|_{\hat{q}_1, \hat{q}_2} = \frac{2 \cosh^2 \omega_1 \cosh^2 \omega_2 - 1}{2(\sigma - 1) \cosh^2 \omega_1 \cosh^2 \omega_2 + 1} \,. \tag{3.91}$$

 \hat{c}_q^2 reduces to the speed of sound of the conformal branes when $\omega_1 = \omega_2 = 0$. If we rewrite our ratio as follows

$$\frac{\hat{\zeta}_s}{\hat{\eta}} - 2\left(\frac{1}{d-1} - \hat{c}_q^2\right) = \frac{4(\sigma-1)\cosh^2\omega_1\cosh^2\omega_2(\cosh^2\omega_1\cosh^2\omega_2 - 1)}{\left(2(\sigma-1)\cosh^2\omega_1\cosh^2\omega_2 + 1\right)^2}, \quad (3.92)$$

we see that the right hand side is manifestly positive when $\sigma > 1$. It still remains interesting to check whether there are any counterexamples to this inequality.

We also note that the KSS bound is saturated for this dual charge system, since we may use (3.69) and (3.23) to see that

$$\frac{\hat{\eta}}{\hat{s}} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \,, \tag{3.93}$$

which results due to the fact that this bound is saturated for conformal branes. The same holds true for the uncharged case, and results due to the fact that in all these cases we require regularity in the interior.

4 Discussion and conclusions

In this paper, we use generalized dimensional reduction of AdS gravity to determine the holographic dictionary of a specific EMD theory containing two gauge fields, three neutral scalars and an axion. We also study the hydrodynamic behaviour of the dual theory, and compute its first order transport coefficient. Such an analysis was performed in [17] for a reduced EMD theory with one gauge field and two scalars. We reproduce all results in [17] by removing the extra fields from the results in this paper.

In contrast to [17], when considering the universal hydrodynamics of the reduced theory, we find that the presence of the extra charge in the system leads us, *via* the modified frame-independent analysis of [66], to a matrix of conductivities, from which we may then calculate the thermal conductivity. In this paper we also have to modify the formula of [75] used to check the bulk to shear viscosity ratio, since that formula applies to the case of canonically normalized scalars and we have a non-standard axion normalization. Lastly, the system studied in this paper also satisfies the the modified bound on the bulk to shear viscosity ratio found in [17].

There are numerous possible extensions to this work, the most obvious being the generalization of this analysis to include many gauge fields, which may be useful in the study of imbalanced superconductors. Making connections to similar systems in the context of AdS/CMT or cosmology are other possible avenues of future work.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Kostas Skenderis, Marika Taylor and Blaise Goutéraux for discussions. This work is part of a research program which is financially supported by the 'Nederlandse Organisatie voor Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek' (NWO). MS acknowledges support via the NWO Vici grant of Kostas Skenderis.

A Equations of motion of reduced theory with two Maxwell fields

In this appendix we give the equations of motion for each of the fields stemming from the action (2.5).

The equation of motion for ζ is

$$\nabla_{M}[e^{\psi}\partial^{M}\zeta] = \frac{1}{4}(2\sigma - d - 1)e^{\psi} \left(e^{\frac{2(\psi+\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)}}F_{MN}^{(2)}F^{(2)MN} - \frac{1}{2\sigma - d - 1}e^{\frac{2(\xi(2\sigma-d) + (2\sigma-d-1)\psi-\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1)}} \times \left(F_{MN}^{(1)}F^{(1)MN} + 4\partial^{M}A^{(0)}A^{(2)N}F_{MN}^{(1)} - 2\left(A^{(2)M}\partial_{M}A^{(0)}\right)^{2} + 2\left(e^{\frac{-2(\psi+\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)}} + A_{M}^{(2)}A^{(2)M}\right)\left(\partial A^{(0)}\right)^{2}\right) - 2e^{\frac{2(\xi-\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d-1)}}\partial_{N}A^{(0)}\partial^{N}A^{(0)}\right), \quad (A.1)$$

while the equation of motion for ψ is

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla_{M}[e^{\psi}\partial^{M}\psi] &= \frac{2\sigma-d}{2(2\sigma-d-1)}e^{\psi} \left[R_{(d+1)} + \frac{(2\sigma-d-1)}{(2\sigma-d)}(\partial\psi)^{2} - \frac{1}{(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1)}(\partial\zeta)^{2} - \frac{1}{(2\sigma-d-1)(2\sigma-d-2)}(\partial\xi)^{2} + 2\sigma(2\sigma-1) - \frac{1}{4}\frac{(2\sigma-d+2)}{(2\sigma-d)}e^{\frac{2(\psi+\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)}}F_{MN}^{(2)}F^{(2)MN} - \frac{1}{4}\frac{2\sigma-d+2}{2\sigma-d}e^{\frac{2(\xi(2\sigma-d)+(2\sigma-d-1)\psi-\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1)}} \times \\ &\times \left(F_{MN}^{(1)}F^{(1)MN} + 4\partial^{M}A^{(0)}A^{(2)N}F_{MN}^{(1)} - 2\left(A^{(2)M}\partial_{M}A^{(0)}\right)^{2} + 2\left(e^{\frac{-2(\psi+\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)}} + A_{M}^{(2)}A^{(2)M}\right)\left(\partial A^{(0)}\right)^{2}\right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\sigma-d}e^{\frac{2(\xi-\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d-1)}}\partial_{N}A^{(0)}\partial^{N}A^{(0)}\right], \end{aligned}$$
(A.2)

and finally for ξ

$$\nabla_{M}[e^{\psi}\partial^{M}\xi] = -\frac{1}{4}(2\sigma - d - 2)e^{\psi}e^{\frac{2(\xi(2\sigma - d) + (2\sigma - d - 1)\psi - \zeta)}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \times \left(F_{MN}^{(1)}F^{(1)MN} + 4\partial^{M}A^{(0)}A^{(2)N}F_{MN}^{(1)} - 2\left(A^{(2)M}\partial_{M}A^{(0)}\right)^{2}\right)$$

$$+2\left(e^{\frac{-2(\psi+\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)}} + A_M^{(2)}A^{(2)M}\right)\left(\partial A^{(0)}\right)^2\right).$$
 (A.3)

The gravitational field equation is

$$\begin{split} 0 &= R_{MN} - \frac{1}{2} g_{MN} R_{(d+1)} - \nabla_N \partial_M \psi + \nabla^P \partial_P \psi \ g_{MN} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} g_{MN} \left(\frac{-(2\sigma - d + 1)}{(2\sigma - d)} (\partial \psi)^2 - \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)} (\partial \zeta)^2 \right. \\ &- \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d - 1)(2\sigma - d - 2)} (\partial \xi)^2 - \frac{1}{4} e^{\frac{2(\psi + \zeta)}{(2\sigma - d)}} F_{PQ}^{(2)} F^{(2)PQ} \\ &+ 2\sigma (2\sigma - 1) - \frac{1}{4} e^{\psi} e^{\frac{2(\xi(2\sigma - d) + (2\sigma - d - 1)\psi - \zeta)}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \times \\ &\times \left(F_{PQ}^{(1)} F^{(1)PQ} + 4\partial^P A^{(0)} A^{(2)Q} F_{PQ}^{(1)} - 2 \left(A^{(2)P} \partial_P A^{(0)} \right)^2 \right. \\ &+ 2 \left(e^{\frac{-2(\psi + \zeta)}{(2\sigma - d)}} + A_P^{(2)} A^{(2)P} \right) \left(\partial A^{(0)} \right)^2 \right) \right) \\ &- \frac{1}{2\sigma - d} \partial_M \psi \partial_N \psi - \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)} \partial_M \zeta \partial_N \zeta \\ &- \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d - 1)(2\sigma - d - 2)} \partial_M \xi \partial_N \xi - \frac{1}{2} e^{\frac{2(\psi + \zeta)}{(2\sigma - d)}} F_M^{(2)Q} F_{NQ}^{(2)} \\ &- \frac{1}{4} e^{\frac{2(\xi(2\sigma - d) + (2\sigma - d - 1)\psi - \zeta)}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \times \\ &\times \left(2F_{MP}^{(1)} F_N^{(1)P} + 4 \left(\partial_N A^{(0)} A^{(2)P} - \partial^P A^{(0)} A_N^{(2)} \right) F_{MP}^{(1)} \\ &- 4A_N^{(2)} A^{(2)P} \partial_P A^{(0)} \partial_M A^{(0)} + 2e^{\frac{-2(\psi + \zeta)}{(2\sigma - d)}} \partial_M A^{(0)} \partial_N A^{(0)} \\ &+ 2 \left(A_M^{(2)} A_N^{(2)} \partial_P A^{(0)} \partial^P A^{(0)} + A_P^{(2)} A^{(2)P} \partial_M A^{(0)} \partial_N A^{(0)} \right) \right), \end{split}$$

the gauge field equations are

$$\nabla_M \left[e^{\psi} e^{\frac{2(\xi(2\sigma-d)+(2\sigma-d-1)\psi-\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1)}} \left(F^{(1)MN} + \partial^M A^{(0)} A^{(2)N} - \partial^N A^{(0)} A^{(2)M} \right) \right] = 0, \quad (A.5)$$

and

$$\nabla_{M} \left[e^{\psi} e^{\frac{2(\psi+\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)}} F^{(2)MN} \right] = e^{\psi} e^{\frac{2(\xi(2\sigma-d)+(2\sigma-d-1)\psi-\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1)}} \left(\partial^{M} A^{(0)} F_{M}^{(1)N} -A_{M}^{(2)} \partial^{M} A^{(0)} \partial^{N} A^{(0)} + A^{(2)N} \left(\partial A^{(0)} \right)^{2} \right), \quad (A.6)$$

and the axion field equation is

$$\nabla_{M} \left[e^{\psi} e^{\frac{2(\xi(2\sigma-d)+(2\sigma-d-1)\psi-\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1)}} \left(F^{(1)M}{}_{N} A^{(2)N} - A^{(2)M} A^{(2)N} \partial_{N} A^{(0)} + \left(e^{\frac{-2(\psi+\zeta)}{(2\sigma-d)}} + A^{(2)}_{N} A^{(2)N} \right) \partial^{M} A^{(0)} \right) \right] = 0.$$
(A.7)

Poles exist in the equations of motion for $2\sigma = d$, so we have to go back to the reduction ansatz to see that this corresponds to the case where there is no reduction. Furthermore, for $2\sigma = d + 1$ the reduction is along a circle and there are no additional scalar fields ζ and ξ , while $2\sigma = d + 2$ corresponds to a reduction along \mathbf{T}^2 with no scalar field ξ .

Β Check of quantities sourced by non-normalizable modes of fields

In this appendix we will write down the explicit component forms of $g_{(0)\mu\nu}$ and $g_{(0)}^{\mu\nu}$ and then we will show that $A_{(0)}^{(3)i}$ sources current $\langle \hat{J}^{(1)i} \rangle_d$, while $\langle \hat{J}^{(2)i} \rangle_d$ is the current sourced by $A_{(0)}^{(2)i}$. Showing that the scalars $\left(\kappa_{(0)}, \zeta_{(0)}, \xi_{(0)}, A_{(0)}^{(0)}\right)$ respectively source $(\mathcal{O}_{\psi}, \mathcal{O}_{\zeta}, \mathcal{O}_{\xi}, \mathcal{O}_{A^{(0)}})$ follows along the same lines.

We first write down the elements of $g_{(0)\mu\nu}$ in (2.10), using the anzats (2.6), as well as expansions (2.12)–(2.15). More precisely, we need to find the coefficient of ρ^0 in (2.6).

This gives

$$\begin{split} g_{(0)ij} &= \tilde{g}_{(0)ij} + e^{\Lambda(\kappa_{(0)} + \zeta_{(0)})} A_{i(0)}^{(2)} A_{j(0)}^{(2)} + e^{\Lambda\kappa_{(0)} + 2\Theta\xi_{(0)} - \Lambda\Theta\zeta_{(0)}} A_{i(0)}^{(1)} A_{j(0)}^{(1)}, \\ g_{(0)iy_1} &= -e^{\Lambda\kappa_{(0)} + 2\Theta\xi_{(0)} - \Lambda\Theta\zeta_{(0)}} A_{i(0)}^{(1)}, \\ g_{(0)iy_2} &= -e^{\Lambda(\kappa_{(0)} + \zeta_{(0)})} A_{i(0)}^{(2)} + e^{\Lambda\kappa_{(0)} + 2\Theta\xi_{(0)} - \Lambda\Theta\zeta_{(0)}} A_{i(0)}^{(1)} A_{i(0)}^{(0)}, \\ g_{(0)y_1y_1} &= e^{\Lambda\kappa_{(0)} + 2\Theta\xi_{(0)} - \Lambda\Theta\zeta_{(0)}}, \\ g_{(0)y_2y_2} &= e^{\Lambda(\kappa_{(0)} + \zeta_{(0)})} + e^{\Lambda\kappa_{(0)} + 2\Theta\xi_{(0)} - \Lambda\Theta\zeta_{(0)}} A_{i(0)}^{(0)2}, \\ g_{(0)y_1y_2} &= -e^{\Lambda\kappa_{(0)} + 2\Theta\xi_{(0)} - \Lambda\Theta\zeta_{(0)}} A_{i(0)}^{(0)}, \\ g_{(0)ab} &= e^{\Lambda\kappa_{(0)} - \Lambda\Theta\zeta_{(0)} - 2\Theta\Omega\xi_{(0)}} \delta_{ab}, \end{split}$$
(B.1)

where $\Lambda = \frac{2}{(2\sigma - d)}$ and $\Theta = \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d - 1)}$, while $\Omega = \frac{1}{(2\sigma - d - 2)}$. With these values in hand, it is now easy to check that $g_{(0)}^{\mu\nu}$, the inverse metric of (B.1), is given by

$$\begin{split} g_{(0)}^{ij} &= \tilde{g}_{(0)}^{ij}, \qquad g_{(0)}^{iy^{(1)}} = A_{(0)}^{(3)i}, \qquad g_{(0)}^{iy^{(2)}} = A_{(0)}^{(2)i}, \\ g_{(0)}^{y_{1}y_{1}} &= e^{-\frac{2\left((2\sigma-d-1)\kappa_{(0)}+(2\sigma-d)\xi_{(0)}-\zeta_{(0)}\right)}{(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1)}} + e^{-\frac{2\left(\kappa_{(0)}+\zeta_{(0)}\right)}{2\sigma-d}} A_{(0)}^{(0)}^{(0)}^{2} + A_{(0)n}^{(3)} A_{(0)}^{(3)n}, \\ g_{(0)}^{y_{1}y_{2}} &= e^{-\frac{2\left(\kappa_{(0)}+\zeta_{(0)}\right)}{2\sigma-d}} A_{(0)}^{(0)} + A_{(0)n}^{(3)} A_{(0)}^{(2)n}, \qquad g_{(0)}^{y_{2}y_{2}} = e^{-\frac{2\left(\kappa_{(0)}+\zeta_{(0)}\right)}{2\sigma-d}} + A_{(0)n}^{(2)} A_{(0)}^{(2)n}, \\ g_{(0)}^{ab} &= e^{-\frac{2\left((2\sigma-d-1)(2\sigma-d-2)\kappa_{(0)}-(2\sigma-d-2)\zeta_{(0)}-(2\sigma-d)\xi_{(0)}\right)}{(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1)(2\sigma-d-2)}} \delta^{ab}, \end{split}$$
(B.2)

and indeed satisfies $g_{(0)\mu\lambda}g^{\lambda\nu}_{(0)} = \delta^{\nu}_{\mu}$. We may write this inverse metric (B.2) more simply by setting

$$\begin{aligned}
\alpha_{(0)} &= \Lambda(\kappa_{(0)} + \zeta_{(0)}), & \beta_{(0)} &= \Lambda\kappa_{(0)} + 2\Theta\xi_{(0)} - \Lambda\Theta\zeta_{(0)}, \\
\gamma_{(0)} &= \Lambda\kappa_{(0)} - \Lambda\Theta\zeta_{(0)} - 2\Theta\xi_{(0)}, & (B.3)
\end{aligned}$$

so that

$$\begin{split} g_{(0)}^{ij} &= \tilde{g}_{(0)}^{ij}, \qquad g_{(0)}^{iy^{(1)}} = A_{(0)}^{(3)i}, \qquad g_{(0)}^{iy^{(2)}} = A_{(0)}^{(2)i}, \\ g_{(0)}^{y_1y_1} &= e^{-\beta_{(0)}} + e^{-\alpha_{(0)}} A_{(0)}^{(0) 2} + A_{(0)n}^{(3)} A_{(0)}^{(3)n}, \\ g_{(0)}^{y_1y_2} &= e^{-\alpha_{(0)}} A_{(0)}^{(0)} + A_{(0)n}^{(3)} A_{(0)}^{(2)n}, \qquad g_{(0)}^{y_2y_2} = e^{-\alpha_{(0)}} + A_{(0)n}^{(2)} A_{(0)}^{(2)n}, \end{split}$$

$$g_{(0)}^{ab} = e^{-\gamma_{(0)}} \delta^{ab} \,. \tag{B.4}$$

We also set

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{(2\sigma)} &= \Lambda(\kappa_{(2\sigma)} + \zeta_{(2\sigma)}), & \beta_{(2\sigma)} &= \Lambda\kappa_{(2\sigma)} + 2\Theta\xi_{(2\sigma)} - \Lambda\Theta\zeta_{(2\sigma)}, \\ \gamma_{(2\sigma)} &= \Lambda\kappa_{(2\sigma)} - \Lambda\Theta\zeta_{(2\sigma)} - 2\Theta\xi_{(2\sigma)}. \end{aligned}$$

We may now move on to the quantities sourced by $A_{(0)}^{(2)i}$ and $A_{(0)}^{(3)i}$. Now, recall that

$$\langle T_{\mu\nu}\rangle_{2\sigma} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{g_{(0),2\sigma}}} \frac{\delta S_{ren}}{\delta g_{(0)}^{\mu\nu}}, \qquad \langle t_{\mu\nu}\rangle_d = e^{\kappa_{(0)}} (2\pi R)^{2\sigma-d} \langle T_{\mu\nu}\rangle_{2\sigma}, \qquad (B.5)$$

so that the current $\mathcal{J}_i^{(2)}$ sourced by $A_{(0)}^{(2)i}$ is given by

$$\begin{split} \langle \mathcal{J}_{i}^{(2)} \rangle_{d} &\equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{g_{(0),d}}} \frac{\delta S_{ren}}{\delta A_{(0)}^{(2)i}} = \frac{e^{\kappa_{(0)}}}{\sqrt{g_{(0),2\sigma}}} \frac{\delta S_{ren}}{\delta g_{(0)}^{\kappa\rho}} \frac{\delta g_{(0)}^{\kappa\rho}}{\delta A_{(0)}^{(2)i}} &= \frac{1}{2} e^{\kappa_{(0)}} \langle T_{\kappa\rho} \rangle_{2\sigma} \frac{\delta g_{(0)}^{\kappa\rho}}{\delta A_{(0)}^{(2)i}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} (2\pi R)^{d-2\sigma} \left(2 \langle t_{iy2} \rangle_{d} \frac{\delta g_{(0)}^{y_{2}}}{\delta A_{(0)}^{(2)i}} + 2 \langle t_{y_{1y2}} \rangle_{d} \frac{\delta g_{(0)}^{y_{1y2}}}{\delta A_{(0)}^{(2)i}} + \langle t_{y_{2y2}} \rangle_{d} \frac{\delta g_{(0)}^{y_{2}}}{\delta A_{(0)}^{(2)i}} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} (2\pi R)^{d-2\sigma} \left(2 \langle t_{iy2} \rangle_{d} \frac{\delta g_{(0)}^{y_{2}}}{\delta A_{(0)}^{(2)i}} + 2 \langle t_{y_{1y2}} \rangle_{d} \frac{\delta g_{(0)}^{y_{1y2}}}{\delta A_{(0)}^{(2)i}} + \langle t_{y_{2y2}} \rangle_{d} \frac{\delta g_{(0)}^{y_{2}y_{2}}}{\delta A_{(0)}^{(2)i}} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} (2\pi R)^{d-2\sigma} \left(2 \langle t_{iy2} \rangle_{d} + 2 \langle t_{y_{1y2}} \rangle_{d} A_{(0)i}^{(3)} + 2 \langle t_{y_{2y2}} \rangle_{d} A_{(0)i}^{(2)} \right) \\ &= (2\pi R)^{d-2\sigma} 2\sigma L e^{\kappa_{(0)}} \\ &\times \left[e^{\beta_{(0)}} \left(\beta_{(2\sigma)} A_{i(0)}^{(1)} A_{(0)}^{(0)} + A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(1)} A_{(0)}^{(0)} + A_{(2\sigma)}^{(0)} A_{i(0)}^{(1)} \right) \\ &- e^{\alpha_{(0)}} \left(\alpha_{(2\sigma)} A_{i(0)}^{(2)} + A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(2)} \right) - A_{i(0)}^{(3)} e^{\beta_{(0)}} \left(\beta_{(2\sigma)} A_{(0)}^{(0)} + A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(0)} \right) \right) \right] \\ &= (2\pi R)^{d-2\sigma} 2\sigma L e^{\kappa_{(0)}} \left[- e^{\alpha_{(0)}} A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(2)} + e^{\beta_{(0)}} \left(A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(1)} A_{i(0)}^{(0)} + A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(0)} A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(0)} \right) \right] \\ &= (2\pi R)^{d-2\sigma} 2\sigma L e^{\kappa_{(0)}} \left[- e^{\alpha_{(0)}} A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(2)} + e^{\beta_{(0)}} \left(A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(1)} A_{i(0)}^{(0)} + A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(0)} A_{i(0)}^{(0)} \right) \right] \\ &= -(2\pi R)^{d-2\sigma} 2\sigma L e^{\kappa_{(0)}} \left[e^{\alpha_{(0)}} A_{i(2\sigma)}^{(2)} - e^{\beta_{(0)}} A_{i(0)}^{(0)} \left(A_{i(1)}^{(1)} + A_{i(0)}^{(2)} A_{i(0)}^{(0)} \right) \right] \\ &= \langle \hat{J}_{i}^{(2)} \rangle_{d}, \qquad (B.6)$$

while the current $\mathcal{J}_i^{(1)}$ sourced by $A_{(0)}^{(3)i}$ is

$$\begin{split} \langle \mathcal{J}_{i}^{(1)} \rangle_{d} &\equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{g_{(0),d}}} \frac{\delta S_{ren}}{\delta A_{(0)}^{(3)i}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g_{(0),d}}} \frac{\delta S_{ren}}{\delta g_{(0)}^{\kappa\rho}} \frac{\delta g_{(0)}^{\kappa\rho}}{\delta A_{(0)}^{(3)i}} = \frac{1}{2} (2\pi R)^{d-2\sigma} \langle t_{\kappa\rho} \rangle_{d} \frac{\delta g_{(0)}^{\kappa\rho}}{\delta A_{(0)}^{(3)i}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} (2\pi R)^{d-2\sigma} \left(2 \langle t_{jy_{1}} \rangle_{d} \frac{\delta g_{(0)}^{jy_{1}}}{\delta A_{(0)}^{(3)i}} + \langle t_{y_{1}y_{1}} \rangle_{d} \frac{\delta g_{(0)}^{y_{1}y_{1}}}{\delta A_{(0)}^{(3)i}} + 2 \langle t_{y_{1}y_{2}} \rangle_{d} \frac{\delta g_{(0)}^{y_{1}y_{2}}}{\delta A_{(0)}^{(3)i}} \right) \end{split}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} (2\pi R)^{d-2\sigma} \left(2\langle t_{iy_1} \rangle_d + 2\langle t_{y_1y_1} \rangle_d A^{(3)}_{(0)i} + 2\langle t_{y_1y_2} \rangle_d A^{(2)}_{(0)i} \right)$$

$$= -(2\pi R)^{d-2\sigma} 2\sigma L e^{\kappa_{(0)}} e^{\frac{2\left((2\sigma-d-1)\kappa_{(0)}+(2\sigma-d)\xi_{(0)}-\zeta_{(0)}\right)}{(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1)}} \left(A^{(1)}_{i(2\sigma)} + A^{(0)}_{(2\sigma)} A^{(2)}_{i(0)} \right)$$

$$= \langle \hat{J}^{(1)}_i \rangle_d.$$
(B.7)

C Transport coefficient relations in two charge hydrodynamic system

In this appendix we derive the equations from which we may extract the transport coefficients for a two-charge hydrodynamic system, using the frame-independent method of [66]. Note that we may reproduce the one-charge results of [66] by setting $\mu_2 = F_{\mu\nu}^{(2)} = 0$, while $\mu_1 = \mu$ and $F_{\mu\nu}^{(1)} \to -F_{\mu\nu}$.

In [66], beginning with a one charge system in 4 dimensions with degrees of freedom (μ, T, u_{μ}) and entropy current divergence

$$\nabla_{\mu}J_{s}^{\mu} = -\nabla_{\mu}\left(\frac{u_{\nu}}{T}\right)T_{\text{diss}}^{\mu\nu} - \left(\partial_{\mu}\frac{\mu}{T} - \frac{F_{\mu\nu}u^{\nu}}{T}\right)J_{\text{diss}}^{\mu}, \qquad (C.1)$$

the first step involves writing down all possible scalars, vectors and tensors in the theory, and then expanding each term on the r.h.s. of (C.1) in terms of these. Having found which quantities participate in this expansion, the next step involves using the first order equations of motion of the system to show that the scalars and vectors are proportional to each other, respectively.

The procedure we employ is equivalent, except that we extend the analysis to include an extra chemical potential (as well as an extra field strength and current). Furthermore, we will be using the notation developed in the rest of this paper, namely hatted quantities and Latin indices, as opposed to the Greek indices used in [66].

Thus, our *d*-dimensional two charge system has degrees of freedom $(\hat{\mu}_1, \hat{\mu}_2, \hat{T}, \hat{u}_i)$ and entropy current divergence given by

$$\nabla_i J_s^i = -\nabla_i \left(\frac{\hat{u}_j}{\hat{T}}\right) \hat{T}_{\text{diss}}^{ij} - \left(\partial_i \left(\frac{\hat{\mu}_1}{\hat{T}}\right) - \frac{F_{(0)ji}^{(1)}\hat{u}^j}{\hat{T}}\right) \hat{J}_{\text{diss}}^{(1)i} - \left(\partial_i \left(\frac{\hat{\mu}_2}{\hat{T}}\right) - \frac{F_{(0)ji}^{(2)}\hat{u}^j}{\hat{T}}\right) \hat{J}_{\text{diss}}^{(2)i},$$
(C.2)

with all possible scalars, vectors and tensors in the theory given by the obvious extension of table 1 in [66]. Expanding the r.h.s. of (C.2) in terms of these, we get

$$\nabla_{i} J_{s}^{i} = \hat{T}_{\text{diss}}^{ij} \left[\frac{-\hat{P}_{ij}}{(d-1)} \frac{(\partial \cdot \hat{u})}{\hat{T}} - \frac{(\hat{u} \cdot \partial)\hat{T}}{\hat{T}^{2}} \hat{u}_{i} \hat{u}_{j} + \frac{1}{\hat{T}} \left(\hat{P}_{ik} \frac{\partial^{k}\hat{T}}{\hat{T}} + (\hat{u} \cdot \partial)\hat{u}_{i} \right) \hat{u}_{j} - \frac{\hat{\sigma}_{ij}}{\hat{T}} \right] \\
+ \hat{J}_{\text{diss}}^{(1)i} \left[(\hat{u} \cdot \partial)\hat{\nu}_{1} \hat{u}_{i} + V_{1i}^{(1)} \right] + \hat{J}_{\text{diss}}^{(2)i} \left[(\hat{u} \cdot \partial)\hat{\nu}_{2} \hat{u}_{i} + V_{1i}^{(2)} \right] , \qquad (C.3)$$

where we have defined $\hat{\nu}_1 \equiv \hat{\mu}_1/\hat{T}$ and $\hat{\nu}_2 \equiv \hat{\mu}_2/\hat{T}$ for simplicity, and V_{1i}^I (I = 1, 2) is as defined in (3.59). It is clear from this that the SO(d-1)-invariant quantities involved in

the expansion are

scalars:
$$\frac{(\hat{u}\cdot\partial)\hat{T}}{\hat{T}}$$
, $(\hat{u}\cdot\partial)\hat{\nu}_1$, $(\hat{u}\cdot\partial)\hat{\nu}_2$, $(\partial\cdot\hat{u})$,
vectors: $V_{1i}^{(1)}$, $V_{1i}^{(2)}$, $V_{1i}^{(3)} \equiv \left(\hat{P}_{ik}\frac{\partial^k\hat{T}}{\hat{T}} + (\hat{u}\cdot\partial)\hat{u}_i\right)$,
tensor: $\hat{\sigma}_{ij}$. (C.4)

Now, to see that all the scalars may be written in terms of $(\partial \cdot \hat{u})$, while the vector $V_1^{(3)}$ may be written as a linear combination of $V_1^{(1)}$ and $V_1^{(2)}$, we also use the equations of motion

$$\partial_i \hat{T}^{ij} = F_{(0)}^{(1)ij} \hat{J}_i^{(1)} + F_{(0)}^{(2)ij} \hat{J}_i^{(2)}, \qquad \partial_i \hat{J}^{(1)i} = 0, \qquad \partial_i \hat{J}^{(2)i} = 0, \qquad (C.5)$$

with

$$\hat{T}^{ij} = (\hat{\epsilon} + \hat{P})\hat{u}^i\hat{u}^j + \hat{P}\hat{\eta}^{ij} + \hat{T}^{ij}_{\text{diss}}, \qquad \hat{J}^{(1)i} = \hat{q}_1 u^i + \hat{J}^{(1)i}_{\text{diss}}, \qquad \hat{J}^{(2)i} = \hat{q}_2 u^i + \hat{J}^{(2)i}_{\text{diss}}, \quad (C.6)$$

so that at first order

$$\hat{u}_j \partial_i \hat{T}^{ij} = 0 \Rightarrow (\hat{u} \cdot \partial) \hat{\epsilon} = -(\hat{\epsilon} + \hat{P})(\partial \cdot \hat{u}), \qquad (C.7)$$

$$\partial_i \hat{J}^{(1)i} = 0 \Rightarrow (\hat{u} \cdot \partial) \hat{q}_1 = -\hat{q}_1 (\partial \cdot \hat{u}), \qquad (C.8)$$

$$\partial_i \hat{J}^{(2)i} = 0 \Rightarrow (\hat{u} \cdot \partial) \hat{q}_2 = -\hat{q}_2 (\partial \cdot \hat{u}).$$
(C.9)

By making various combinations of the equations (C.7)-(C.9) above, following the example of [66], and simplifying the r.h.s. and l.h.s. of these resulting equations, we may show that

$$\frac{(\hat{u}\cdot\partial)\hat{T}}{\hat{T}} = -\left.\left(\frac{\partial\hat{P}}{\partial\hat{\epsilon}}\right)\right|_{\hat{q}_1,\hat{q}_2} \left(\partial\cdot\hat{u}\right),\tag{C.10}$$

$$(\hat{u}\cdot\partial)\hat{\nu}_1 = -\frac{1}{\hat{T}} \left(\frac{\partial\hat{P}}{\partial\hat{q}_1}\right) \bigg|_{\hat{\epsilon},\hat{q}_2} (\partial\cdot\hat{u}), \qquad (C.11)$$

$$(\hat{u}\cdot\partial)\hat{\nu}_2 = -\frac{1}{\hat{T}} \left(\frac{\partial\hat{P}}{\partial\hat{q}_2}\right) \bigg|_{\hat{\epsilon},\hat{q}_1} (\partial\cdot\hat{u}).$$
(C.12)

To obtain (C.10), we take the combination

$$\left. \left(\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{\epsilon}} \right) \right|_{\hat{q}_{1},\hat{q}_{2}} \quad \left\{ \left(\frac{\partial \hat{q}_{2}}{\partial \hat{\nu}_{2}} \right) \right|_{\hat{T},\hat{\nu}_{1}} \left[\left(\frac{\partial \hat{q}_{1}}{\partial \hat{\nu}_{1}} \right) \right|_{\hat{T},\hat{\nu}_{2}} \times (C.7) - \left(\frac{\partial \hat{\epsilon}}{\partial \hat{\nu}_{1}} \right) \right|_{\hat{T},\hat{\nu}_{2}} \times (C.8) \right] \\
+ \left. \left(\frac{\partial \hat{\epsilon}}{\partial \hat{\nu}_{2}} \right) \right|_{\hat{T},\hat{\nu}_{1}} \left[\left(\frac{\partial \hat{q}_{2}}{\partial \hat{\nu}_{1}} \right) \right|_{\hat{T},\hat{\nu}_{2}} \times (C.8) - \left(\frac{\partial \hat{q}_{1}}{\partial \hat{\nu}_{1}} \right) \right|_{\hat{T},\hat{\nu}_{2}} \times (C.9) \right] \\
- \left. \left(\frac{\partial \hat{q}_{1}}{\partial \hat{\nu}_{2}} \right) \right|_{\hat{T},\hat{\nu}_{1}} \left[\left(\frac{\partial \hat{q}_{2}}{\partial \hat{\nu}_{1}} \right) \right|_{\hat{T},\hat{\nu}_{2}} \times (C.7) - \left(\frac{\partial \hat{\epsilon}}{\partial \hat{\nu}_{1}} \right) \right|_{\hat{T},\hat{\nu}_{2}} \times (C.9) \right] \right\}, \quad (C.13)$$

while for (C.11) we use

$$\left. \left(\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{q}_1} \right) \right|_{\hat{\epsilon}, \hat{q}_2} \quad \left\{ \left(\frac{\partial \hat{q}_2}{\partial \hat{\nu}_2} \right) \right|_{\hat{T}, \hat{\nu}_1} \left[\left(\frac{\partial \hat{q}_1}{\partial \hat{T}} \right) \right|_{\hat{\nu}_1, \hat{\nu}_2} \times (C.7) - \left(\frac{\partial \hat{\epsilon}}{\partial \hat{T}} \right) \right|_{\hat{\nu}_1, \hat{\nu}_2} \times (C.8) \right] \\ + \left(\frac{\partial \hat{\epsilon}}{\partial \hat{\nu}_2} \right) \left|_{\hat{T}, \hat{\nu}_1} \left[\left(\frac{\partial \hat{q}_2}{\partial \hat{T}} \right) \right|_{\hat{\nu}_1, \hat{\nu}_2} \times (C.8) - \left(\frac{\partial \hat{q}_1}{\partial \hat{T}} \right) \right|_{\hat{\nu}_1, \hat{\nu}_2} \times (C.9) \right] \\ - \left(\frac{\partial \hat{q}_1}{\partial \hat{\nu}_2} \right) \left|_{\hat{T}, \hat{\nu}_1} \left[\left(\frac{\partial \hat{q}_2}{\partial \hat{T}} \right) \right|_{\hat{\nu}_1, \hat{\nu}_2} \times (C.7) - \left(\frac{\partial \hat{\epsilon}}{\partial \hat{T}} \right) \right|_{\hat{\nu}_1, \hat{\nu}_2} \times (C.9) \right] \right\}, \quad (C.14)$$

and to get (C.12),

$$\left(\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{\epsilon}}\right)\Big|_{\hat{q}_1, \hat{q}_2} \times (C.7) + \left(\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{q}_1}\right)\Big|_{\hat{\epsilon}, \hat{q}_2} \times (C.8) + \left(\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{q}_2}\right)\Big|_{\hat{\epsilon}, \hat{q}_1} \times (C.9).$$
(C.15)

In order to simplify the r.h.s. and l.h.s. of each of these combinations in turn, we make use of the following, as done equivalently in [66]: Via the chain rule (for i = 1, 2, 3) we get

$$\left. \left(\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \Sigma_{i}} \right) \right|_{A_{i},B_{i}} = \left. \left(\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{\epsilon}} \right) \right|_{\hat{q}_{1},\hat{q}_{2}} \left(\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial \Sigma_{i}} \right) \right|_{A_{i},B_{i}} + \left. \left(\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{q}_{1}} \right) \right|_{\hat{\epsilon},\hat{q}_{2}} \left(\frac{\partial \hat{q}_{1}}{\partial \Sigma_{i}} \right) \right|_{A_{i},B_{i}} + \left. \left(\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{q}_{2}} \right) \right|_{\hat{\epsilon},\hat{q}_{1}} \left(\frac{\partial \hat{q}_{2}}{\partial \Sigma_{i}} \right) \right|_{A_{i},B_{i}},$$
(C.16)

where $(\Sigma_1, \Sigma_2, \Sigma_3) = (T, \hat{\nu}_1, \hat{\nu}_2), (A_1, A_2, A_3) = (\hat{\nu}_1, \hat{T}, \hat{T})$ and $(B_1, B_2, B_3) = (\hat{\nu}_2, \hat{\nu}_2, \hat{\nu}_1),$ while

$$(\hat{u}\cdot\partial)\Gamma = \left. \left(\frac{\partial\Gamma}{\partial\hat{T}} \right) \right|_{\hat{\nu}_1,\hat{\nu}_2} (\hat{u}\cdot\partial)\hat{T} + \left. \left(\frac{\partial\Gamma}{\partial\hat{\nu}_1} \right) \right|_{\hat{T},\hat{\nu}_2} (\hat{u}\cdot\partial)\hat{\nu}_1 + \left. \left(\frac{\partial\Gamma}{\partial\hat{\nu}_2} \right) \right|_{\hat{T},\hat{\nu}_1} (\hat{u}\cdot\partial)\hat{\nu}_2 \,, \quad (C.17)$$

where $(\Gamma = \hat{\epsilon}, \hat{q}_1, \hat{q}_2)$. Furthermore, from the first law,

$$\hat{P} + \hat{\epsilon} = \hat{T}(\hat{s} + \hat{q}_1\hat{\nu}_1 + \hat{q}_2\hat{\nu}_2), \qquad \mathrm{d}\hat{P} = \left(\frac{\hat{P} + \hat{\epsilon}}{\hat{T}}\right)\mathrm{d}\hat{T} + \hat{T}\hat{q}_1\mathrm{d}\hat{\nu}_1 + \hat{T}\hat{q}_2\mathrm{d}\hat{\nu}_2, \qquad (C.18)$$

we know that

$$\left. \left(\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{T}} \right) \right|_{\hat{\nu}_1, \hat{\nu}_2} = \frac{\hat{P} + \hat{\epsilon}}{\hat{T}}, \qquad \left(\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{\nu}_1} \right) \right|_{\hat{T}, \hat{\nu}_2} = \hat{T}\hat{q}_1, \qquad \left(\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{\nu}_2} \right) \right|_{\hat{T}, \hat{\nu}_1} = \hat{T}\hat{q}_2, \qquad (C.19)$$

and also

$$\left(\frac{\partial\hat{\epsilon}}{\partial\hat{\nu}_1}\right)\Big|_{\hat{T},\hat{\nu}_2} = \hat{T}^2 \left(\frac{\partial\hat{q}_1}{\partial\hat{T}}\right)\Big|_{\hat{\nu}_1,\hat{\nu}_2}, \qquad \left(\frac{\partial\hat{\epsilon}}{\partial\hat{\nu}_2}\right)\Big|_{\hat{T},\hat{\nu}_1} = \hat{T}^2 \left(\frac{\partial\hat{q}_2}{\partial\hat{T}}\right)\Big|_{\hat{\nu}_1,\hat{\nu}_2}.$$
(C.20)

We also use the fact that

$$\left. \left(\frac{\partial \hat{q}_2}{\partial \hat{\nu}_1} \right) \right|_{\hat{T}, \hat{\nu}_2} = \left. \left(\frac{\partial \hat{q}_1}{\partial \hat{\nu}_2} \right) \right|_{\hat{T}, \hat{\nu}_1} \,, \tag{C.21}$$

which is a Maxwell relation obtained by using the grand potential density $\varphi \equiv \hat{\epsilon} - \hat{T}\hat{s} - \hat{\mu}_1\hat{q}_1 - \hat{\mu}_2\hat{q}_2.$

Finally, using (C.6), we may write

$$\hat{P}_{ik}\partial_j\hat{T}^{jk} = (\hat{P} + \hat{\epsilon})(\hat{u} \cdot \partial)\hat{u}_i + \hat{P}_i^{\ k} \left(\frac{\hat{P} + \hat{\epsilon}}{\hat{T}}\partial_k\hat{T} + \hat{T}\hat{q}_1\partial_k\hat{\nu}_1 + \hat{T}\hat{q}_2\partial_k\hat{\nu}_2\right), \quad (C.22)$$

where in the last line above we used (C.19) and the fact that

$$\partial_k \hat{P} = \left. \left(\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{T}} \right) \right|_{\hat{\nu}_1, \hat{\nu}_2} \partial_k \hat{T} + \left. \left(\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{\nu}_1} \right) \right|_{\hat{T}, \hat{\nu}_2} \partial_k \hat{\nu}_1 + \left. \left(\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{\nu}_2} \right) \right|_{\hat{T}, \hat{\nu}_1} \partial_k \hat{\nu}_2 \,. \tag{C.23}$$

From the equation of motion in (C.5) this is equivalent to

$$\hat{P}_{ik}\left(F^{(1)jk}_{(0)}\hat{J}^{(1)}_j + F^{(2)jk}\hat{J}^{(2)}_j\right) = \hat{q}_1 F^{(1)j}_{(0)}{}_i\hat{u}_j + \hat{q}_2 F^{(2)j}_{(0)}{}_i\hat{u}_j \,, \tag{C.24}$$

where we used (C.6), so that we get

$$V_{1i}^{(3)} = \frac{\hat{q}_1 \hat{T}}{\hat{P} + \hat{\epsilon}} V_{1i}^{(1)} + \frac{\hat{q}_2 \hat{T}}{\hat{P} + \hat{\epsilon}} V_{1i}^{(2)} .$$
(C.25)

With the results in (C.10), (C.11), (C.12) and (C.25) in hand, we may rewrite (C.3) as given in (3.58). Requiring this to be positive semi-definite allows us to write down the equations from which we may extract the transport coefficients.

D Computing transport coefficients

In this appendix we extract the transport coefficients from (3.60), and (3.66)–(3.68). We first use the conservation equations for the fluid, namely

$$\partial_i \langle \hat{T}^{ij} \rangle_d = F_{(0)}^{(1)ij} \langle \hat{J}_i^{(1)} \rangle_d + F_{(0)}^{(2)ij} \langle \hat{J}_i^{(2)} \rangle_d \,, \tag{D.1}$$

$$\partial^i \langle \hat{J}_i^{(1)} \rangle_d = 0, \qquad (D.2)$$

$$\partial^i \langle \hat{J}_i^{(2)} \rangle_d = 0, \qquad (D.3)$$

to get

$$\partial_{j} \log m = \frac{\cosh \omega_{1}}{\sinh \omega_{1}} \hat{u} \cdot \partial \omega_{1} \ \hat{u}_{j} - \cosh^{2} \omega_{1} \cosh^{2} \omega_{2} \ \hat{u} \cdot \partial \hat{u}_{j} + \sinh \omega_{1} \cosh \omega_{1} \cosh \omega_{2} \ \hat{u}^{i} F_{(0)ij}^{(1)} + \cosh^{2} \omega_{1} \cosh \omega_{2} \sinh \omega_{2} \ \hat{u}^{i} F_{(0)ij}^{(2)} ,$$
$$\hat{u} \cdot \partial \omega_{1} = \frac{\sinh \omega_{1} \ \cosh \omega_{1} \cosh^{2} \omega_{2}}{2(\sigma - 1) \cosh^{2} \omega_{1} \cosh^{2} \omega_{2} + 1} \partial \cdot \hat{u} ,$$
$$\hat{u} \cdot \partial \omega_{2} = \frac{\sinh \omega_{2} \cosh \omega_{2}}{2(\sigma - 1) \cosh^{2} \omega_{1} \cosh^{2} \omega_{2} + 1} \partial \cdot \hat{u} = \frac{\tanh \omega_{2}}{\cosh \omega_{1} \sinh \omega_{1}} \hat{u} \cdot \partial \omega_{1} , \qquad (D.4)$$

and then we evaluate

$$\hat{P}^{ij}\langle\hat{T}_{ij}^{\text{diss}}\rangle_d = -2\eta_d \bigg[\cosh\omega_1\cosh\omega_2\hat{P}^{ij}\partial_{(i}\hat{u}_{j)} - \frac{(d-1)}{(2\sigma-1)}(\cosh\omega_1\cosh\omega_2\ \partial\cdot\hat{u})\bigg]$$

$$\begin{split} +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}+\cosh\omega_{1}\sinh\omega_{2}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\Big]\\ &=-2\eta_{d}\cosh\omega_{1}\cosh\omega_{2}\left[1-\frac{(d-1)\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2}}{2(\sigma-1)\cosh^{2}\omega_{2}+1}\right]\partial\cdot\hat{u},\\ \hat{P}_{k}^{i}\hat{P}_{l}^{j}\langle\hat{T}_{l}^{diss}\rangle_{d}&=-2\eta_{d}\left[\cosh\omega_{1}\cosh\omega_{2}\hat{P}_{k}^{j}\hat{P}_{l}^{j}\partial_{l}(\hat{u}_{j})\right]\\ &\quad -\frac{1}{(2\sigma-1)}\hat{P}_{kl}\left(\cosh\omega_{1}\cosh\omega_{2}\cosh\omega_{2}\partial\cdot\hat{u}\right)\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}+\cosh\omega_{2}\partial\cdot\hat{u}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}+\cosh\omega_{2}F_{(0)mj}^{(1)}\hat{u}^{m}\\ &\quad -\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\hat{u}_{2}\right],\\ \hat{P}^{ij}\langle\hat{J}_{j}^{(2)diss}\rangle_{d}&=-\eta_{d}\hat{P}^{ij}\left[\sinh\omega_{1}\sinh\omega_{2}\partial_{j}\omega_{1}+\cosh\omega_{1}\cosh\omega_{2}\partial_{j}\omega_{2}\\ &\quad -\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\hat{u}_{1}\right],\\ \hat{P}^{ij}\langle\hat{J}_{j}^{(2)diss}\rangle_{d}&=-\eta_{d}\hat{P}^{ij}\left[\sinh\omega_{1}\sin\omega_{2}\partial_{j}\omega_{1}+\cosh\omega_{1}\cosh\omega_{2}\partial_{j}\omega_{2}\\ &\quad -\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh\omega_{2}(1+\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\sinh\omega_{2}F_{(0)mj}^{(0)}\hat{u}^{m}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{1}\cosh\omega_{2}(1+\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\sinh^{2}\omega_{2})F_{(0)mj}^{(2)}\hat{u}^{m}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{1}\cosh\omega_{2}(1+\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\hat{u}_{1}\right],\\ \langle\mathcal{O}_{1}^{tiss}\rangle_{d}&=2\eta_{d}\left[\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\hat{u}_{2}\right]\\ &\quad +\cosh^{3}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{2}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\hat{u}_{2}\\ &\quad +\cosh^{3}\omega_{1}\cosh\omega_{2}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{1}\sinh\omega_{2}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sin\omega_{2}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{2}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{1}\sinh\omega_{2}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{2}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{2}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{2}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &\quad +\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{2}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &\quad +\cos\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}\\ &\quad +\partial\omega_{1}\\ &\quad +\partial\omega_{1}\dot{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}\\ &\quad +\partial\omega_{1}\dot{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}\\ &\quad +\partial\omega_{1}\dot{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}\\ &\quad +\partial\omega_{1}\\ &\quad +\partial\omega_{1}\dot{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &\quad +\partial\omega_{1}\dot{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &\quad +\partial\omega_{1}\dot{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &\quad +\partial\omega_{1}\dot{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &\quad +\partial\omega_{1}\dot{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\\ &$$

$$-\frac{1}{(2\sigma-1)}\cosh\omega_{1}\sinh\omega_{1}\sinh\omega_{2}\left(\cosh\omega_{1}\cosh\omega_{2}\ \partial\cdot\hat{u}\right)$$
$$+\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{1}\ \hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{1}+\cosh\omega_{1}\sinh\omega_{2}\ \hat{u}\cdot\partial\omega_{2}\left(\partial\omega_{2}^{\mathrm{diss}}\right)_{d}=0,$$
$$\langle\mathcal{O}_{\psi}^{\mathrm{diss}}\rangle_{d}=\langle\mathcal{O}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{diss}}\rangle_{d}=\langle\mathcal{O}_{\xi}^{\mathrm{diss}}\rangle_{d}=0.$$
(D.6)

Evaluating $\hat{\zeta}_s$ from (3.68) also requires us to calculate the variations of \hat{P} with respect to $\hat{\epsilon}$, \hat{q}_1 and \hat{q}_2 respectively, for which we use

$$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{d}\hat{q}_1 &= 0 \text{ and } \mathrm{d}\hat{q}_2 = 0 \Rightarrow \mathrm{d}\omega_1 = -\frac{2\sigma \sinh\omega_1 \cosh\omega_1 \cosh^2\omega_2}{(2\cosh^2\omega_1 \cosh^2\omega_2 - 1)} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m}, \\ \mathrm{d}\omega_2 &= -\frac{2\sigma \cosh\omega_2 \sinh\omega_2}{(2\cosh^2\omega_1 \cosh^2\omega_2 - 1)} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m}, \\ \mathrm{d}\hat{\epsilon} &= 0 \text{ and } \mathrm{d}\hat{q}_2 = 0 \Rightarrow \mathrm{d}\omega_1 = -\frac{(2\sigma \cosh^2\omega_1 \cosh^2\omega_2 - 2\cosh^2\omega_2 + 1)}{2\cosh\omega_1 \sinh\omega_1 \cosh^2\omega_2} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m}, \\ \mathrm{d}\omega_2 &= -\frac{\sinh\omega_2}{\cosh^2\omega_1 \cosh\omega_2} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m}, \\ \mathrm{d}\hat{\epsilon} &= 0 \text{ and } \mathrm{d}\hat{q}_1 = 0 \Rightarrow \mathrm{d}\omega_1 = -\frac{\sinh\omega_1(2\sigma \cosh^2\omega_1 \cosh^2\omega_2 + 1)}{2\cosh^3\omega_1 \cosh^2\omega_2} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m}, \\ \mathrm{d}\omega_2 &= -\frac{\sinh\omega_1(2\sigma \cosh^2\omega_1 \cosh^2\omega_2 - 2\cosh^2\omega_1 + 1)}{2\cosh^3\omega_1 \cosh^2\omega_2} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m}. \end{aligned}$$

From these relations it follows that

$$\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{\epsilon}} \equiv \left. \frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{\epsilon}} \right|_{\hat{q}_{1},\hat{q}_{2}} = \frac{(2\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2}-1)}{(2(\sigma-1)\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2}+1)},$$

$$\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{q}_{1}} \equiv \left. \frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{q}_{1}} \right|_{\hat{\epsilon},\hat{q}_{2}} = -\frac{2\cosh\omega_{1}\sinh\omega_{1}\cosh\omega_{2}}{(2(\sigma-1)\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2}+1)},$$

$$\frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{q}_{2}} \equiv \left. \frac{\partial \hat{P}}{\partial \hat{q}_{2}} \right|_{\hat{\epsilon},\hat{q}_{1}} = -\frac{2\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh\omega_{2}\sinh\omega_{2}}{(2(\sigma-1)\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2}+1)}.$$
(D.7)

Using $\langle \mathcal{O}_1^{\text{diss}} \rangle_d = \langle \mathcal{O}_3^{\text{diss}} \rangle_d$ and $\langle \mathcal{O}_4^{\text{diss}} \rangle_d = 0$, the equation from which we may extract the bulk viscosity (3.68) becomes

$$\frac{\hat{P}^{ij}\langle\hat{T}_{ij}^{\text{diss}}\rangle_d}{(d-1)} + \langle \mathcal{O}_3^{\text{diss}}\rangle_d \left[\frac{\partial\hat{P}}{\partial\hat{\epsilon}}\left(\frac{\tanh^2\omega_1}{\cosh^2\omega_2} + \tanh^2\omega_2\right) + \frac{\partial\hat{P}}{\partial\hat{q}_1}\frac{\tanh\omega_1}{\cosh\omega_2} + \frac{\partial\hat{P}}{\partial\hat{q}_2}\tanh\omega_2\right] = -\hat{\zeta}_s \ \partial \cdot \hat{u} \,. \tag{D.8}$$

Plugging (D.5) and (D.7) into the equation above yields the bulk viscosity (3.77), while substituting the results in (D.4) and (D.6) into the other transport coefficient equations, namely (3.60), (3.66) and (3.67), gives (3.69)-(3.75).

E Derivation of formula for bulk to shear viscosity ratio

Equation (3.83) was derived in [75], and expresses the bulk viscosity to shear viscosity ratio in terms of the dependence of scalar fields at the horizon on thermodynamic variables such as entropy and charge densities. It is derived using the null focusing (Raychaudhuri) equation, which is equivalent *via* the fluid/gravity correspondence to the entropy/balance law of the fluid.

In [75] the action under consideration is a (d + 1)-dimensional gravitational action in the Einstein frame, where the kinetic terms for the various scalar fields are canonically normalized. However, we are interested in action (2.9), where the axion kinetic term is clearly not canonically normalized, so we cannot simply apply (3.83) to our case. In this appendix we thus repeat the derivation given in [75] (while also adjusting the notation to match our conventions) for a general action of the form

$$S_{(d+1)} = L \int \mathrm{d}^{d+1}x \sqrt{-\bar{g}_{(d+1)}} \left[\bar{R} - \frac{1}{2} \Omega_{IJ}(\phi) \partial_M \phi^I \partial^M \phi^J - V(\phi^I) \right] + S_{\text{gauge}}, \quad (E.1)$$

where Ω_{IJ} parametrizes the normalization of the scalar field kinetic terms. In [75], $\Omega_{IJ} = \text{diag}\{1, 1, \dots, 1\}$, while in our case $\phi^I = \{\bar{\psi}, \bar{\zeta}, \bar{\xi}, A_{(0)}^{(1)}\}$ and

$$\Omega_{IJ} = \operatorname{diag}\{1, 1, 1, \exp(c_1 \bar{\xi} - c_2 \bar{\zeta})\}, \qquad (E.2)$$

where

$$c_1 = \sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma - d - 2)}{(2\sigma - d - 1)}}, \qquad c_2 = \sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma - d)}{(2\sigma - d - 1)}}.$$
 (E.3)

The derivation in [75] follows through exactly, except that all occurrences of $\sum_{I} (\partial \phi^{I})^{2}$ (or equivalent expressions) are replaced by $\Omega_{IJ} \phi^{I} \phi^{J}$, in particular the Raychaudhuri equation.

The procedure involves considering the focusing equation at subsequent orders in derivatives of z^i , the local coordinates on the horizon (with $x^M = (\rho, z^i)$, $M = 0, \dots, d$, and ρ a transverse coordinate, with $\rho = \rho_h$ on the horizon). Following the procedure outlined in [75], we are ultimately lead to the Raychaudhuri equation to second order

$$\partial_i(\hat{s}\hat{u}^i) = \frac{\hat{s}}{2\pi\hat{T}}\hat{\sigma}_{ij}\hat{\sigma}^{ij} + \frac{\hat{s}}{4\pi\hat{T}}\Omega^h_{IJ}\left(\hat{s}\frac{\mathrm{d}\phi^I_h}{\mathrm{d}\hat{s}} + \hat{q}^a\frac{\mathrm{d}\phi^I_h}{\mathrm{d}\hat{q}^a}\right)\left(\hat{s}\frac{\mathrm{d}\phi^J_h}{\mathrm{d}\hat{s}} + \hat{q}^a\frac{\mathrm{d}\phi^J_h}{\mathrm{d}\hat{q}^a}\right)\left(\partial_p\hat{u}^p\right)^2, \quad (E.4)$$

where \hat{s} is the entropy density, \hat{T} is the temperature, \hat{q}^a are charge densities, all quantities with subscript (or superscript) h are evaluated at the horizon, $\hat{u}^M = (0, \hat{u}^i)$ is a vector field obtained by raising the null cotangent vector to the horizon with the bulk metric, and

$$\hat{\sigma}_{ij} = \hat{P}_i^m \hat{P}_j^n \partial_{(m} \hat{u}_{n)} - \frac{1}{(d-1)} \hat{P}_{ij} \partial_p \hat{u}^p, \qquad \hat{P}_{ij} = \hat{\eta}_{ij} + \hat{u}_i \hat{u}_j.$$

(E.4) has the form of a fluid entropy balance law

$$\partial_i(\hat{s}\hat{u}^i) = \frac{2\hat{\eta}}{\hat{T}}\hat{\sigma}_{ij}\hat{\sigma}^{ij} + \frac{\hat{\zeta}_s}{\hat{T}}(\partial_p\hat{u}^p)^2, \qquad (E.5)$$

via the fluid/gravity correspondence (the shear viscosity obeys $\hat{\eta}/\hat{s} = 1/4\pi$). We may thus extract the bulk to shear viscosity ratio, which is

$$\frac{\hat{\zeta}_s}{\hat{\eta}} = \Omega^h_{IJ} \left(\hat{s} \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi^I_h}{\mathrm{d}\hat{s}} + \hat{q}^a \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi^I_h}{\mathrm{d}\hat{q}^a} \right) \left(\hat{s} \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi^J_h}{\mathrm{d}\hat{s}} + \hat{q}^a \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi^J_h}{\mathrm{d}\hat{q}^a} \right) \,. \tag{E.6}$$

In our case, $\Omega_{IJ}^h = \text{diag}\{1, 1, 1, \exp(c_1\bar{\xi} - c_2\bar{\zeta})\}|_h$, and the horizon occurs at $\rho = m^{-2}$. Now,

$$e^{c_1\bar{\xi}-c_2\bar{\zeta}}\Big|_h = e^{c_1\bar{\xi}_h-c_2\bar{\zeta}_h} = \left(\frac{\cosh\omega_1}{\cosh\omega_2}\right)^2, \qquad (E.7)$$

where

$$\bar{\xi}_h = \sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma - d - 2)}{(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \ln \cosh \omega_1 ,$$
$$\bar{\zeta}_h = \sqrt{\frac{2}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \ln \left(\frac{(\cosh \omega_2)^{2\sigma - d - 1}}{\cosh \omega_1}\right) .$$
(E.8)

In (E.8) above we used (2.8) and (3.8) evaluated at $\rho = m^{-2}$.

F Checking bulk to shear viscosity ratio

Having derived the formula (3.84) in appendix E, we now re-evaluate the bulk to shear viscosity ratio given in (3.82) using this formula.

The charge densities and entropy are given by (3.18) and (3.23), and the scalars are

$$\begin{split} \bar{\psi}_{h} &\equiv \bar{\psi}(\rho = m^{-2}) = \sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma - 1)}{(2\sigma - d)(d - 1)}} \log \left[\frac{1}{\rho^{\sigma - d/2}} K_{1}(\rho)^{1/2} K_{2}(\rho)^{1/2} \right] \Big|_{\rho = m^{-2}} \\ &= \sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma - 1)}{(2\sigma - d)(d - 1)}} \log[m^{2\sigma - d} \cosh \omega_{1} \cosh \omega_{2}], \\ \bar{\zeta}_{h} &\equiv \bar{\zeta}(\rho = m^{-2}) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \log \left[K_{2}(\rho)^{\frac{1}{2}(2\sigma - d - 1)} K_{1}(\rho)^{-1/2} \right] \Big|_{\rho = m^{-2}} \\ &= \sqrt{\frac{2}{(2\sigma - d)(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \left[2\sigma - d - 2 \right] \log[\cosh \omega_{1}], \\ \bar{\zeta}_{h} &\equiv \bar{\zeta}(\rho = m^{-2}) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{(2\sigma - d - 1)(2\sigma - d - 2)}} \log \left[K_{1}(\rho)^{\frac{1}{2}(2\sigma - d - 2)} \right] \Big|_{\rho = m^{-2}} \\ &= \sqrt{\frac{2}{(2\sigma - d - 1)(2\sigma - d - 2)}} \log \left[\frac{\cosh \omega_{2}^{(2\sigma - d - 1)}}{\cosh \omega_{1}} \right], \end{split}$$
(F.1)

as obtained from (3.8) and (3.3) with canonical normalization (2.8), and further evaluated at the horizon. The axion is given by (3.12)

$$A_{h}^{(0)} \equiv \left((K_{1}'(\rho))^{-1} - 1 \right) \sinh \omega_{2} \Big|_{\rho = m^{-2}} = -\frac{\sinh \omega_{1} \sinh \omega_{2}}{\cosh \omega_{1}} \,. \tag{F.2}$$

Notice that

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{d}\hat{q}_1 &= 0 \text{ and } \mathrm{d}\hat{q}_2 = 0 \Rightarrow \mathrm{d}\omega_1 = -\frac{2\sigma \sinh\omega_1 \cosh\omega_1 \cosh^2\omega_2}{(2\cosh^2\omega_1 \cosh^2\omega_2 - 1)} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m} \,, \\ \mathrm{d}\omega_2 &= -\frac{2\sigma \cosh\omega_2 \sinh\omega_2}{(2\cosh^2\omega_1 \cosh^2\omega_2 - 1)} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m} \,, \\ \mathrm{d}\hat{s} &= 0 \text{ and } \mathrm{d}\hat{q}_2 = 0 \Rightarrow \mathrm{d}\omega_1 = -\frac{\cosh\omega_1}{\sinh\omega_1} (2(\sigma - 1)\cosh^2\omega_2 + 1) \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m} \,, \\ \mathrm{d}\omega_2 &= 2(\sigma - 1)\cosh\omega_2 \sinh\omega_2 \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m} \,, \\ \mathrm{d}\hat{s} &= 0 \text{ and } \mathrm{d}\hat{q}_1 = 0 \Rightarrow \mathrm{d}\omega_1 = -\frac{\sinh\omega_1}{\cosh\omega_1} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m} \,, \\ \mathrm{d}\omega_2 &= -\frac{\cosh\omega_2(2(\sigma - 1)\cosh^2\omega_1 + 1)}{\cosh^2\omega_1 \sinh\omega_2} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m} \,, \end{split}$$

from which it is then straightforward to derive

$$\begin{split} &\mathrm{d}(\log \hat{s})|_{\hat{q}_{1},\hat{q}_{2}} = \left.\frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{s}}{\hat{s}}\right|_{\hat{q}_{1},\hat{q}_{2}} = \frac{(2(\sigma-1)\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2}-1)}{(2\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2}-1)} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m}, \\ &\mathrm{d}(\log \hat{q}_{1})|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{2}} = \left.\frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{q}_{1}}{\hat{q}_{1}}\right|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{2}} = -\frac{(2(\sigma-1)\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2}+1)}{\sinh^{2}\omega_{1}} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m}, \\ &\mathrm{d}(\log \hat{q}_{2})|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{1}} = \left.\frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{q}_{2}}{\hat{q}_{2}}\right|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{1}} = -\frac{(2(\sigma-1)\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2}+1)}{\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\sinh^{2}\omega_{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m}, \\ &\mathrm{d}(\bar{\psi}_{h})|_{\hat{q}_{1},\hat{q}_{2}} = \sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma-1)}{(d-1)(2\sigma-d)}} \frac{(2(\sigma-d)\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2}+d)}{(2\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2}-1)} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m}, \\ &\mathrm{d}(\bar{\psi}_{h})|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{2}} = -\sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma-1)(d-1)}{(2\sigma-d)}} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m}, \\ &\mathrm{d}(\bar{\psi}_{h})|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{1}} = -\sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma-1)(d-1)}{(2\sigma-d)}} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m}, \\ &\mathrm{d}(\bar{\zeta}_{h})|_{\hat{q}_{1},\hat{q}_{2}} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1)}} \\ &\times \frac{2\sigma(\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2}-(2\sigma-d)\sinh^{2}\omega_{2}-1)}{(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1)} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m}, \\ &\mathrm{d}(\bar{\zeta}_{h})|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{1}} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1)}} \\ &\times \frac{(-(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1))}{(2\sigma-d-1)} \\ &\times \frac{(-(2\sigma-d)(2\sigma-d-1))}{(2\sigma-d-1)} \\ &\times \frac{(-(2\sigma-d)(2(\sigma-1)\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}+1)+(2\sigma-1)\cosh^{2}\omega_{1})}{(2\sigma+d)} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m}, \\ &\mathrm{d}(\bar{\xi}_{h})|_{\hat{q}_{1},\hat{q}_{2}} = -\sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma-d-2)}{(2\sigma-d-1)}} \frac{2\sigma\sinh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2}-1)} \frac{\mathrm{d}m}{m}, \end{split}$$

$$d(\bar{\xi}_{h})|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{2}} = -\sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma - d - 2)}{(2\sigma - d - 1)}} (2(\sigma - 1)\cosh^{2}\omega_{2} + 1)\frac{dm}{m},$$

$$d(\bar{\xi}_{h})|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{1}} = -\sqrt{\frac{2(2\sigma - d - 2)}{(2\sigma - d - 1)}} \frac{\sinh^{2}\omega_{1}}{\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}} \frac{dm}{m},$$

$$d(A_{h}^{(0)})|_{\hat{q}_{1},\hat{q}_{2}} = \frac{4\sigma \sinh\omega_{1}\sinh\omega_{2}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2}}{\cosh\omega_{1}(2\cosh^{2}\omega_{2} - 1)} \frac{dm}{m},$$

$$d(A_{h}^{(0)})|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{2}} = -\frac{\sinh\omega_{2}}{\sinh\omega_{1}\cosh\omega_{1}} (2(\sigma - 1)\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2} - 1) \frac{dm}{m},$$

$$d(A_{h}^{(0)})|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{1}} = \frac{\sinh\omega_{1}}{\sinh\omega_{2}\cosh^{3}\omega_{1}} (2(\sigma - 1)\cosh^{2}\omega_{1}\cosh^{2}\omega_{2} + 2\cosh^{2}\omega_{2} - 1) \frac{dm}{m}.$$
(F.3)
substitute the values in (F.3) into

We substitute the values in (F.3) into

$$\begin{split} \frac{\hat{\zeta}_{s}}{\hat{\eta}} &= \left(\left. \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{\psi}_{h}}{\mathrm{d}\log\hat{s}} \right|_{\hat{q}_{1},\hat{q}_{2}} + \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{\psi}_{h}}{\mathrm{d}\log\hat{q}_{1}} \right|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{2}} + \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{\psi}_{h}}{\mathrm{d}\log\hat{q}_{2}} \right|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{1}} \right)^{2} \\ &+ \left(\left. \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{\zeta}_{h}}{\mathrm{d}\log\hat{s}} \right|_{\hat{q}_{1},\hat{q}_{2}} + \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{\zeta}_{h}}{\mathrm{d}\log\hat{q}_{1}} \right|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{2}} + \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{\zeta}_{h}}{\mathrm{d}\log\hat{q}_{2}} \right|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{1}} \right)^{2} \\ &+ \left(\left. \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}_{h}}{\mathrm{d}\log\hat{s}} \right|_{\hat{q}_{1},\hat{q}_{2}} + \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}_{h}}{\mathrm{d}\log\hat{q}_{1}} \right|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{2}} + \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{\xi}_{h}}{\mathrm{d}\log\hat{q}_{2}} \right|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{1}} \right)^{2} \\ &+ \left(\left. \frac{\mathrm{cosh}\,\omega_{1}}{\mathrm{cosh}\,\omega_{2}} \right)^{2} \left(\left. \frac{\mathrm{d}A_{h}^{(0)}}{\mathrm{d}\log\hat{s}} \right|_{\hat{q}_{1},\hat{q}_{2}} + \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}A_{h}^{(0)}}{\mathrm{d}\log\hat{q}_{1}} \right|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{2}} + \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}A_{h}^{(0)}}{\mathrm{d}\log\hat{q}_{2}} \right|_{\hat{s},\hat{q}_{1}} \right)^{2} , \end{split}$$

and obtain precisely the ratio as evaluated from (3.69) and (3.77).

References

- [1] M. Taylor, Non-relativistic holography, arXiv:0812.0530 [INSPIRE].
- [2] S.S. Gubser and F.D. Rocha, Peculiar properties of a charged dilatonic black hole in AdS_5 , *Phys. Rev.* **D 81** (2010) 046001 [arXiv:0911.2898] [INSPIRE].
- [3] K. Goldstein, S. Kachru, S. Prakash and S.P. Trivedi, Holography of charged dilaton black holes, JHEP 08 (2010) 078 [arXiv:0911.3586] [INSPIRE].
- [4] M. Cadoni, G. D'Appollonio and P. Pani, Phase transitions between Reissner-Nordström and dilatonic black holes in 4D AdS spacetime, JHEP 03 (2010) 100 [arXiv:0912.3520] INSPIRE].
- [5] C.-M. Chen and D.-W. Pang, Holography of charged dilaton black holes in general dimensions, JHEP 06 (2010) 093 [arXiv:1003.5064] [INSPIRE].

- [6] C. Charmousis, B. Gouteraux, B. Kim, E. Kiritsis and R. Meyer, Effective holographic theories for low-temperature condensed matter systems, JHEP 11 (2010) 151
 [arXiv:1005.4690] [INSPIRE].
- [7] B.-H. Lee, S. Nam, D.-W. Pang and C. Park, Conductivity in the anisotropic background, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 066005 [arXiv:1006.0779] [INSPIRE].
- [8] B.-H. Lee, D.-W. Pang and C. Park, Strange metallic behavior in anisotropic background, JHEP 07 (2010) 057 [arXiv:1006.1719] [INSPIRE].
- [9] E. Perlmutter, Domain wall holography for finite temperature scaling solutions, JHEP 02 (2011) 013 [arXiv:1006.2124] [INSPIRE].
- [10] Y. Liu and Y.-W. Sun, Holographic superconductors from Einstein-Maxwell-dilaton gravity, JHEP 07 (2010) 099 [arXiv:1006.2726] [INSPIRE].
- [11] K. Goldstein et al., Holography of dyonic dilaton black branes, JHEP 10 (2010) 027
 [arXiv:1007.2490] [INSPIRE].
- [12] M. Cadoni and P. Pani, Holography of charged dilatonic black branes at finite temperature, JHEP 04 (2011) 049 [arXiv:1102.3820] [INSPIRE].
- [13] N. Iizuka, N. Kundu, P. Narayan and S.P. Trivedi, Holographic Fermi and non-Fermi liquids with transitions in dilaton gravity, JHEP 01 (2012) 094 [arXiv:1105.1162] [INSPIRE].
- [14] B. Gouteraux and E. Kiritsis, Generalized holographic quantum criticality at finite density, JHEP 12 (2011) 036 [arXiv:1107.2116] [INSPIRE].
- [15] S.A. Hartnoll, Horizons, holography and condensed matter, arXiv:1106.4324 [INSPIRE].
- [16] A. Salvio, Holographic superfluids and superconductors in dilaton-gravity, JHEP 09 (2012) 134 [arXiv:1207.3800] [INSPIRE].
- [17] B. Gouteraux, J. Smolic, M. Smolic, K. Skenderis and M. Taylor, Holography for Einstein-Maxwell-dilaton theories from generalized dimensional reduction, JHEP 01 (2012) 089 [arXiv:1110.2320] [INSPIRE].
- [18] L. Huijse, S. Sachdev and B. Swingle, Hidden Fermi surfaces in compressible states of gauge-gravity duality, Phys. Rev. B 85 (2012) 035121 [arXiv:1112.0573] [INSPIRE].
- [19] K. Skenderis, Lecture notes on holographic renormalization, Class. Quant. Grav. 19 (2002) 5849 [hep-th/0209067] [INSPIRE].
- [20] I. Papadimitriou and K. Skenderis, AdS/CFT correspondence and geometry, hep-th/0404176 [INSPIRE].
- [21] S. de Haro, S.N. Solodukhin and K. Skenderis, Holographic reconstruction of space-time and renormalization in the AdS/CFT correspondence, Commun. Math. Phys. 217 (2001) 595
 [hep-th/0002230] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Bianchi, D.Z. Freedman and K. Skenderis, *Holographic renormalization*, *Nucl. Phys.* B 631 (2002) 159 [hep-th/0112119] [INSPIRE].
- [23] I. Papadimitriou and K. Skenderis, Correlation functions in holographic RG flows, JHEP 10 (2004) 075 [hep-th/0407071] [INSPIRE].
- [24] T. Wiseman and B. Withers, Holographic renormalization for coincident Dp-branes, JHEP 10 (2008) 037 [arXiv:0807.0755] [INSPIRE].

- [25] I. Kanitscheider, K. Skenderis and M. Taylor, Precision holography for non-conformal branes, JHEP 09 (2008) 094 [arXiv:0807.3324] [INSPIRE].
- [26] N. Itzhaki, J.M. Maldacena, J. Sonnenschein and S. Yankielowicz, Supergravity and the large-N limit of theories with sixteen supercharges, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 046004 [hep-th/9802042] [INSPIRE].
- [27] H. Boonstra, K. Skenderis and P. Townsend, The domain wall/QFT correspondence, JHEP 01 (1999) 003 [hep-th/9807137] [INSPIRE].
- [28] I. Kanitscheider and K. Skenderis, Universal hydrodynamics of non-conformal branes, JHEP 04 (2009) 062 [arXiv:0901.1487] [INSPIRE].
- [29] P. Benincasa, A note on holographic renormalization of probe D-branes, arXiv:0903.4356 [INSPIRE].
- [30] A. Karch, A. O'Bannon and K. Skenderis, Holographic renormalization of probe D-branes in AdS/CFT, JHEP 04 (2006) 015 [hep-th/0512125] [INSPIRE].
- [31] I. Papadimitriou and K. Skenderis, Thermodynamics of asymptotically locally AdS spacetimes, JHEP 08 (2005) 004 [hep-th/0505190] [INSPIRE].
- [32] F. Bigazzi and A.L. Cotrone, An elementary stringy estimate of transport coefficients of large temperature QCD, JHEP 08 (2010) 128 [arXiv:1006.4634] [INSPIRE].
- [33] K.C. Chan, J.H. Horne and R.B. Mann, Charged dilaton black holes with unusual asymptotics, Nucl. Phys. B 447 (1995) 441 [gr-qc/9502042] [INSPIRE].
- [34] R.-G. Cai and Y.-Z. Zhang, Black plane solutions in four-dimensional space-times, Phys. Rev. D 54 (1996) 4891 [gr-qc/9609065] [INSPIRE].
- [35] R.-G. Cai, J.-Y. Ji and K.-S. Soh, Topological dilaton black holes, Phys. Rev. D 57 (1998) 6547 [gr-qc/9708063] [INSPIRE].
- [36] C. Charmousis, Dilaton space-times with a Liouville potential, Class. Quant. Grav. 19 (2002) 83 [hep-th/0107126] [INSPIRE].
- [37] S. Mignemi and D. Wiltshire, Spherically symmetric solutions in dimensionally reduced space-times, Class. Quant. Grav. 6 (1989) 987 [INSPIRE].
- [38] D.L. Wiltshire, Spherically symmetric solutions in dimensionally reduced space-times with a higher dimensional cosmological constant, Phys. Rev. D 44 (1991) 1100 [INSPIRE].
- [39] R.-G. Cai and A. Wang, Non-asymptotically AdS/ds solutions and their higher dimensional origins, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 084042 [hep-th/0406040] [INSPIRE].
- [40] U. Gürsoy, E. Kiritsis and F. Nitti, Exploring improved holographic theories for QCD: part II, JHEP 02 (2008) 019 [arXiv:0707.1349] [INSPIRE].
- [41] U. Gürsoy, E. Kiritsis, L. Mazzanti and F. Nitti, Holography and thermodynamics of 5D dilaton-gravity, JHEP 05 (2009) 033 [arXiv:0812.0792] [INSPIRE].
- [42] K. Skenderis, Asymptotically Anti-de Sitter space-times and their stress energy tensor, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 16 (2001) 740 [hep-th/0010138] [INSPIRE].
- [43] A. Chamblin, R. Emparan, C.V. Johnson and R.C. Myers, *Holography, thermodynamics and fluctuations of charged AdS black holes*, *Phys. Rev.* D 60 (1999) 104026 [hep-th/9904197]
 [INSPIRE].

- [44] A. Chamblin, R. Emparan, C.V. Johnson and R.C. Myers, *Charged AdS black holes and catastrophic holography*, *Phys. Rev.* D 60 (1999) 064018 [hep-th/9902170] [INSPIRE].
- [45] C. Charmousis, B. Gouteraux and J. Soda, Einstein-Maxwell-dilaton theories with a Liouville potential, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 024028 [arXiv:0905.3337] [INSPIRE].
- [46] G. Gibbons, G.T. Horowitz and P. Townsend, Higher dimensional resolution of dilatonic black hole singularities, Class. Quant. Grav. 12 (1995) 297 [hep-th/9410073] [INSPIRE].
- [47] M.M. Caldarelli, R. Emparan and B. Van Pol, Higher-dimensional rotating charged black holes, JHEP 04 (2011) 013 [arXiv:1012.4517] [INSPIRE].
- [48] G. Gibbons and K.-I. Maeda, Black holes and membranes in higher dimensional theories with dilaton fields, Nucl. Phys. B 298 (1988) 741 [INSPIRE].
- [49] M. Bañados, M. Henneaux, C. Teitelboim and J. Zanelli, Geometry of the (2+1) black hole, Phys. Rev. D 48 (1993) 1506 [gr-qc/9302012] [INSPIRE].
- [50] M. Bañados, C. Teitelboim and J. Zanelli, The black hole in three-dimensional space-time, Phys. Rev. Lett. 69 (1992) 1849 [hep-th/9204099] [INSPIRE].
- [51] J. Lemos, Cylindrical black hole in general relativity, Phys. Lett. B 353 (1995) 46 [gr-qc/9404041] [INSPIRE].
- [52] J.P. Lemos and V.T. Zanchin, Rotating charged black string and three-dimensional black holes, Phys. Rev. D 54 (1996) 3840 [hep-th/9511188] [INSPIRE].
- [53] A.M. Awad, Higher dimensional charged rotating solutions in (A)dS space-times, Class. Quant. Grav. 20 (2003) 2827 [hep-th/0209238] [INSPIRE].
- [54] J. Stachel, Globally stationary but locally static space-times: a gravitational analog of the Aharonov-Bohm effect, Phys. Rev. D 26 (1982) 1281 [INSPIRE].
- [55] M. Cvetič, H. Lü and C. Pope, Space-times of boosted p-branes and CFT in infinite momentum frame, Nucl. Phys. B 545 (1999) 309 [hep-th/9810123] [INSPIRE].
- [56] H. Lü and C. Pope, P-brane solitons in maximal supergravities, Nucl. Phys. B 465 (1996) 127 [hep-th/9512012] [INSPIRE].
- [57] C.N. Pope, Lectures on Kaluza-Klein theory, http://faculty.physics.tamu.edu/pope/.
- [58] W. Chemissany, B. Janssen and T. Van Riet, Einstein branes, JHEP 10 (2011) 002 [arXiv:1107.1427] [INSPIRE].
- [59] C. Hull, A new gauging of N = 8 supergravity, Phys. Rev. **D** 30 (1984) 760 [INSPIRE].
- [60] C. Hull, Noncompact gaugings of N = 8 supergravity, Phys. Lett. B 142 (1984) 39 [INSPIRE].
- [61] R.-G. Cai and N. Ohta, Surface counterterms and boundary stress energy tensors for asymptotically non Anti-de Sitter spaces, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 024006 [hep-th/9912013]
 [INSPIRE].
- [62] S. Bhattacharyya, V.E. Hubeny, S. Minwalla and M. Rangamani, Nonlinear fluid dynamics from gravity, JHEP 02 (2008) 045 [arXiv:0712.2456] [INSPIRE].
- [63] M. Cvetič and A.A. Tseytlin, Nonextreme black holes from nonextreme intersecting M-branes, Nucl. Phys. B 478 (1996) 181 [hep-th/9606033] [INSPIRE].
- [64] K. Skenderis, Black holes and branes in string theory, Lect. Notes Phys. 541 (2000) 325
 [hep-th/9901050] [INSPIRE].

- [65] L.D. Landau and E.M. Lifshitz, *Fluid mechanics, course of theoretical physics, volume* 6, 2nd edition, translated from the Russian by J.B. Sykes and W.H. Reid, Pergamon Press, London U.K. (1987).
- [66] J. Bhattacharya, S. Bhattacharyya, S. Minwalla and A. Yarom, A theory of first order dissipative superfluid dynamics, arXiv:1105.3733 [INSPIRE].
- [67] D.T. Son and A.O. Starinets, Hydrodynamics of R-charged black holes, JHEP 03 (2006) 052
 [hep-th/0601157] [INSPIRE].
- [68] S. Jain, Holographic electrical and thermal conductivity in strongly coupled gauge theory with multiple chemical potentials, JHEP **03** (2010) 101 [arXiv:0912.2228] [INSPIRE].
- [69] P. Kovtun, D.T. Son and A.O. Starinets, Holography and hydrodynamics: diffusion on stretched horizons, JHEP 10 (2003) 064 [hep-th/0309213] [INSPIRE].
- [70] P. Kovtun, D. Son and A. Starinets, Viscosity in strongly interacting quantum field theories from black hole physics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94 (2005) 111601 [hep-th/0405231] [INSPIRE].
- [71] A. Buchel, Bulk viscosity of gauge theory plasma at strong coupling, Phys. Lett. B 663 (2008) 286 [arXiv:0708.3459] [INSPIRE].
- [72] A. Buchel, Violation of the holographic bulk viscosity bound, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 066004
 [arXiv:1110.0063] [INSPIRE].
- [73] A. Karch and A. O'Bannon, *Metallic AdS/CFT*, *JHEP* 09 (2007) 024 [arXiv:0705.3870]
 [INSPIRE].
- [74] S.A. Hartnoll, J. Polchinski, E. Silverstein and D. Tong, Towards strange metallic holography, JHEP 04 (2010) 120 [arXiv:0912.1061] [INSPIRE].
- [75] C. Eling and Y. Oz, A novel formula for bulk viscosity from the null horizon focusing equation, JHEP 06 (2011) 007 [arXiv:1103.1657] [INSPIRE].
- [76] G. Bertoldi, B.A. Burrington and A.W. Peet, Thermal behavior of charged dilatonic black branes in AdS and UV completions of Lifshitz-like geometries, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 106013 [arXiv:1007.1464] [INSPIRE].
- [77] G. Bertoldi, B.A. Burrington, A.W. Peet and I.G. Zadeh, Lifshitz-like black brane thermodynamics in higher dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 126006 [arXiv:1101.1980]
 [INSPIRE].
- [78] J. Erdmenger, V. Grass, P. Kerner and T.H. Ngo, Holographic superfluidity in imbalanced mixtures, JHEP 08 (2011) 037 [arXiv:1103.4145] [INSPIRE].
- [79] C. Charmousis, B. Gouteraux and E. Kiritsis, Higher-derivative scalar-vector-tensor theories: black holes, galileons, singularity cloaking and holography, JHEP 09 (2012) 011 [arXiv:1206.1499] [INSPIRE].